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Record-Breaking Offerings.  Genentech Common Stock returned to the New York Stock Exchange on July 20, 1999, under its unique new trading
symbol, DNA.  On July 23, 1999, Roche completed the sale of 44 million shares of Genentech Common Stock in the largest initial public offering
of its kind in U.S. healthcare industry history.1 Following this, on October 26, 1999, Roche completed the sale of an additional 40 million shares
in the largest secondary offering in U.S. history at that time.  

Record-Breaking Offerings. Genentech Common Stock returned to the New York Stock Exchange on July 20, 1999, under its unique new trading
symbol, DNA.  On July 23, 1999, Roche completed the sale of 44 million shares of Genentech Common Stock in the largest initial public offering
of its kind in U.S. healthcare industry history.1 Following this, on October 26, 1999, Roche completed the sale of an additional 40 million shares
in the largest secondary offering in U.S. history at that time.  

1. All information in this annual report relating to the number of shares of Genentech Common Stock reflects the two-for-one split of Genentech Common Stock on November 2, 1999. 



Our five-point strategy for growth continues to serve as a guide for and a measure of our performance.  Our unwavering commitment

to this strategy is apparent throughout all levels and operations of the company.  Together with Genentech’s Long-Range Plan, the

five-point strategy is intended to facilitate the achievement of our goals.

Highlighted below are business events resulting from each of Genentech’s five strategy points.

A year measured by growth, innovation and results.

1.  Maximize Revenue Growth

• 1999 revenues were $1.40 billion.1

• Total product sales were $1.04 billion, exceeding the $1-billion mark for the first time
in Genentech’s history. 

• 1999 product sales increased 45% over 1998 product sales, driven primarily by sales
of Herceptin and Rituxan.

• With total 1999 sales of $188.4 million, Herceptin, Genentech’s monoclonal antibody
product for metastatic breast cancer, surpassed Rituxan as having the highest first-year
sales of any anti-cancer product in the United States.

• With Alkermes, Inc., received U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for 
Nutropin Depot, the first long-acting dosage form of recombinant human growth hormone,
for use in pediatric growth hormone deficiency.  Nutropin Depot was granted priority review
status six months earlier.

• Received FDA approval of additional labeling describing Nutropin’s and Nutropin AQ’s effects
on spine bone mineral density in young adults with childhood-onset growth hormone deficiency.

2.  Further Our Discovery and Development of Innovative Products

• Was notified that the FDA accepted for review a Biologics License Application for TNKase
(Tenecteplase) for treating heart attack patients.  Our partner for this product, Boehringer
Ingelheim International GmbH, filed with the European Regulatory Authority for approval of
Tenecteplase for the same indication.

• With Novartis Pharma AG and Tanox, Inc., announced positive results from Phase III clinical
trials of anti-IgE in patients with allergic asthma and seasonal allergic rhinitis.  The companies
intend to file a Biologics License Application in the United States and registration in Europe
by mid-year 2000.

• With IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation, initiated Phase III clinical trials of Rituxan in 
intermediate- and high-grade non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma.

• Reported Herceptin follow-up data showing that metastatic breast cancer patients who have
tumors that overexpress the HER2 protein, when treated with Herceptin plus chemotherapy,
lived significantly longer compared to patients treated with chemotherapy alone.

• With XOMA Corporation, announced the initiation of a Phase III clinical trial of anti-CD11a
(hu1124) monoclonal antibody product in psoriasis.  Expanded the anti-CD11a antibody product
development program to include solid-organ transplant rejection and began planning with
XOMA for Phase I clinical trials.

• Initiated Phase III safety and efficacy trials of Activase in catheter clearance.
• Announced, with COR Therapeutics, Inc. and Schering-Plough Corporation, a Phase II

collaborative study of COR’s antiplatelet agent, INTEGRILIN, in combination with Genentech’s
single-bolus thrombolytic, TNKase, in patients with acute myocardial infarction (heart attack).

• Announced the decision to proceed with Phase III clinical trials of recombinant human mono-
clonal antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor (rhuMAb-VEGF) in combination with
chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer and metastatic non-small cell lung cancer,
based on positive results in Phase II studies.

• Initiated Phase II clinical trials of Herceptin in other solid-tumor indications and completed
preparations for Phase III clinical trials in adjuvant therapy for breast cancer.

• Filed a supplemental Biologics License Application with the FDA for Rituxan for the indication
of bulky disease and the dosing regimens of eight doses and multiple course. 

• With Immunex Corporation, began planning Phase I clinical trials for Apo2L/TRAIL in cancer,
following an agreement to jointly develop this drug.

• Filed an Investigational New Drug (IND) application for study of the Fab portion of the anti-
VEGF molecule for age-related macular degeneration.
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1.  Excludes special charges related to the redemption of Genentech’s Special Common Stock on June 30, 1999, legal settlements, recurring charges related to the redemption, and their related tax effects.

Genentech has or owns rights to various copyrights, trademarks and trade names used in our business, including the following:  Activase® (Alteplase, recombinant) tissue-plasminogen activator; Herceptin® (Trastuzumab) anti-HER2 antibody; Nutropin® [somatropin (rDNA origin) for injection]
growth hormone; Nutropin AQ® [somatropin (rDNA origin) injection] liquid formulation growth hormone; Nutropin Depot TM [somatropin (rDNA origin) for injectable suspension] long-acting dosage form of recombinant human growth hormone; Protropin® (somatrem for injection); Pulmozyme®

(dornase alfa, recombinant) inhalation solution; Rituxan® (Rituximab) antibody; TNKaseTM (Tenecteplase) second-generation tissue-plasminogen activator; and XubixTM (sibrafiban) oral IIb/IIIa antagonist.  AERx® delivery system is a registered trademark of Aradigm Corporation; Enbrel®

(etanercept) biologic response modifier is a registered trademark of Immunex Corporation; INTEGRILIN® (eptifibatide) parenteral GP IIb/IIIa inhibitor is a registered trademark of COR Therapeutics, Inc.; XenoMouseTM transgenic mouse technology is a trademark of Abgenix, Inc.

Business Events: 1999 and Early 2000

• Roche Holding AG reported that Xubix, an oral platelet IIb/IIIa antagonist discovered jointly
with Genentech and aimed at cutting the risk of cardiac events, showed no benefit over
aspirin in a Phase III trial.

• Announced that the Phase III clinical trial of recombinant human nerve growth factor
(rhNGF) for use in diabetic peripheral neuropathy did not meet its objectives and decided
not to file for product approval with the FDA.

• Announced that a Phase II clinical trial of recombinant human vascular endothelial growth
factor (VEGF) protein did not meet its primary objectives.

3. Invest in Our People

• Was named in 2000 for the second consecutive year to Fortune magazine’s annual list of
“100 Best Companies to Work for in America,” and ranked 32nd compared to 52nd in 1999.

• Was named for the ninth time to Working Mother magazine’s annual list of “100 Best
Companies for Working Mothers.”

• Initiated several new employee programs to provide a supportive work environment and to
enhance work-life balance, including a convenient, on-site general store and service center,
backup day care for school-age children and a concierge service.

• Implemented a new stock option program to allow Genentech employees the opportunity to
share in the company’s success.

• Appointed Arthur D. Levinson, Ph.D., as chairman of the board of directors; re-elected to the
board Herbert W. Boyer, Ph.D.; appointed new board members Charles A. Sanders, M.D.,
and Sir Mark Richmond, Ph.D.; Franz B. Humer, Ph.D., and Jonathan K.C. Knowles, Ph.D.,
remained on the board.

• Named Susan D. Desmond-Hellmann, M.D., M.P.H., as executive vice president, develop-
ment and product operations, and James P. Panek as senior vice president, product operations.

• Named as vice presidents: Laura A. Leber, corporate communications; Diane L. Parks, 
marketing; and Daniel S. Sulzbach, information resources. 

• Named Laurence A. Lasky, Ph.D., as Genentech Fellow.
• Named Avi J. Ashkenazi, Ph.D., and Leonard G. Presta, Ph.D., as staff scientists.

4.  Leverage Our Assets

• Signed a license agreement with Immunex Corporation that grants rights under Genentech’s
immunoadhesin patent portfolio to Immunex for its product Enbrel.  Immunex paid
Genentech an initial license fee in exchange for a worldwide, co-exclusive license covering
p75TNFR:Fc fusion proteins such as Enbrel.  Immunex is paying royalties to Genentech on
sales of Enbrel for the life of Genentech’s patents.

• Announced a collaboration with Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Inc. that includes development of
Inspire’s molecule INS365 for chronic bronchitis.

• Signed an agreement with Actelion Ltd. for the development and co-promotion of tezosentan,
the first endothelin receptor antagonist for the potential treatment of acute heart failure.

• Announced with Aradigm Corporation the start of a Phase IIa clinical trial of Genentech’s
Pulmozyme (dornase alfa inhalation solution) using Aradigm’s proprietary AERx pulmonary
delivery system, following an agreement between the two companies earlier this year. 

• Entered into an agreement with Schwarz Pharma AG for the development and distribution 
of Nutropin AQ and Nutropin Depot for the treatment of certain pediatric and adult growth dis-
orders in Europe and several other countries outside of the United States, Canada and Japan.

• Entered into an agreement with Abgenix, Inc. under which Abgenix agreed to provide
Genentech access to Abgenix’s XenoMouse technology to generate fully human antibodies.

5.  Provide Strong Financial Returns

• 1999 net income: $246.7 million.1

• 1999 diluted earnings per share: $0.93.1

• 1999 net income as percent of revenues: 18%.1
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Commitment fueled by passionCommitment fueled by passion

Genentech’s Second Generation Child Care Center. Each day, more than 250 children of Genentech
employees learn, play and find best friends at Genentech’s Second Generation, while their moms
and/or dads are at work close by.  One of the first and largest corporate-sponsored day care centers in
the country, Second Generation has helped place Genentech on both Fortune’s and Working Mother ’s
lists of 100 best companies to work for in America. 

Genentech’s Second Generation Child Care Center. Each day, more than 250 children of Genentech
employees learn, play and find best friends at Genentech’s Second Generation, while their moms
and/or dads are at work close by.  One of the first and largest corporate-sponsored day care centers in
the country, Second Generation has helped place Genentech on both Fortune’s and Working Mother ’s
lists of 100 best companies to work for in America. 



3. Invest in Our People
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Our employees are key to the company’s success.  Since its found-

ing, Genentech has fostered an environment that attracts, retains

and rewards the best and brightest employees in all areas.  Of our nearly

3,900 employees, more than 80% possess college degrees and 25% have

advanced degrees, including Ph.D.s and M.D.s.  Our scientists are among

the most prolific in the industry, publishing at a rate of about 250 papers

per year.  In keeping with our stated goal of being a growth company,

Genentech strives to be an exciting place to work, a great environment

in which to learn and a company that offers myriad opportunities for

individual progress. 

This past year, we implemented a variety of new programs designed

to help busy employees juggle the demands of career and home life and

to reaffirm the company’s commitment to investing in our people.

These newer programs include backup day care for school-age children

on selected school holidays, a concierge service, and Genenstore, a

time-saving shopping option.  We continue to offer employees excellent

healthcare benefits, a stock-purchase plan, paid sabbatical leave, a retiree

medical account and many other outstanding incentives.  The value of

our employees — their accomplishments, unique culture and passion —

was particularly evident in 1999.  The fact that employee turnover

remained stable during the two Genentech stock offerings by Roche is a

compelling testimony to the trust Genentech has earned with employees —

and of their commitment to the company.

At Genentech, employee commitment extends far beyond company

walls.  Throughout the year, at both our South San Francisco and

Vacaville campuses, large-scale photographic murals of patients who

received Genentech therapies provide our employees with a unique

motivation to succeed, a powerful everyday reminder that their dedica-

tion pays off.

Our employees have a well-established reputation for giving back,

not just to the company, but to their communities as well.  Last year,

employees participated in 17 different charitable events, many of which

involved running, walking, biking and other physical activities conducted

outside of normal working hours.  On their own initiative, employees

established three scholarship funds to support science education at the

high-school level and beyond.  In addition, through Genentech’s charitable

contribution matching program, employees made generous donations

to the areas of human health, education and community services that

benefited organizations ranging from the Leukemia Society of America

and the Juvenile Diabetes Society to Habitat for Humanity and the

Second Harvest Food Bank.

Genentech realizes that investing in its people is an investment in 

the future of biotechnology.  Our employees’ passion for giving is a

reflection of their shared vision and ongoing mission to make a real

difference in people’s lives.

Genentech’s key strategy, to invest in our people,
pays highly visible returns.
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Giving Back. The 1999 “Race for the Cure” was just one example 
of Genentech employees’ commitment to outdistancing life-threatening 
diseases such as breast cancer.  Their enthusiastic participation in this
event reflects how our people give back to their communities.

Giving Back. The 1999 “Race for the Cure” was just one example 
of Genentech employees’ commitment to outdistancing life-threatening 
diseases such as breast cancer.  Their enthusiastic participation in this
event reflects how our people give back to their communities.



Financial Highlights
(dollars in millions, except per share data)

% Change f rom
Preced ing  Yea r1999

Total revenues $ 1,421.4 $ 1,401.0 $ 1,150.9 $ 1,016.7 22% 13%

Product sales 1,039.1 1,039.1 717.8 584.9 45 23

Cost of sales 285.6 192.2 138.6 102.5 39 35

Research and development (R&D) expenses 367.3 367.3 396.2 470.9 (7) (16)

Marketing, general and administrative expenses 467.9 467.9 358.9 269.9 30 33

Special charges(3) 1,437.7 — — — — —

Recurring charges related to redemption(4) 198.4 — — — — —

Net income (loss) (1,144.5) 246.7 181.9 129.0 36 41

Diluted earnings (loss) per share(5) (4.46) 0.93 0.70 0.51 33 37

R&D expense as a % of revenues — 26% 34% 46% — —

Net income as a % of revenues — 18% 16% 13% — —

Shares used to compute diluted earnings (loss) 
per share (millions)(5) 256.4 264.7 259.7 252.8 2 3

Actual shares at year-end (millions)(5) 258.1 258.1 254.2 248.5 2 2

Stock price at year-end(5) $ 134.50 — $ 39.85 $ 30.32 238 31

No cash dividends were paid.

Cash, short-term investments
and long-term marketable securities $ 1,957.4 — $ 1,604.6 $ 1,286.5 22 25

Property, plant and equipment, net 730.1 — 700.2 683.3 4 2

Total assets 6,554.4 — 2,855.4 2,507.6 130 14

Total stockholders’ equity 5,282.8 — 2,343.8 2,031.2 125 15

Capital expenditures 95.0 — 88.1 154.9 8 (43)

Number of employees 3,883 — 3,389 3,242 15 5
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(1) Pro forma results for 1999 exclude special charges related to the redemption on June 30, 1999 of our callable putable common stock, or “Special Common Stock,” legal settlements,
recurring charges and other effects of the redemption, and their related tax effects.  (2) Percent change was calculated based on pro forma amounts and shares where applicable.  (3) Amount
includes $1,207.7 million related to the redemption of our Special Common Stock and $230.0 million related to legal settlements.  (4) Amount primarily relates to the amortization of goodwill
and other intangible assets due to the redemption of our Special Common Stock.  (5) All share, price per share and per share amounts of Common Stock and Special Common Stock reflect the
two-for-one split of our Common Stock in November 1999.

Years ended December 31 Actual Pro Forma(1) 1998 1997 1999(2) 1998
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Distribution of Revenue (1)Dollars

19991997 1998

Net income as a % of revenues 18%16%13%

13%Annual % change 22%

Total revenues(1)

Net income(1)

R&D expenses

MG&A expenses

Cost of sales

Interest expense
& income taxes (1)

$1,401.0

$1,150.9

$1,016.7

(1) Results for 1999 exclude special charges related to the redemption on June 30, 1999 of our callable
putable common stock, or “Special Common Stock,” legal settlements, recurring charges and other effects
of the redemption, and their related tax effects.

In this Annual Report, “Genentech,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Genentech, Inc.,
“Common Stock” refers to Genentech’s Common Stock, par value $0.02 per share,
“Special Common Stock” refers to Genentech’s callable putable common stock, par
value $0.02 per share and “Redeemable Common Stock” refers to Genentech’s
redeemable common stock, par value $0.02 per share. In addition, all numbers relat-
ing to the number of shares, price per share and per share amounts of Common Stock,
Special Common Stock and Redeemable Common Stock give effect to the two-for-one
split of our Common Stock on November 2, 1999.



Genentech is a leading biotechnology company that uses human genetic information to discover,
develop, manufacture and market human pharmaceuticals for significant unmet medical needs.
Thirteen of the approved products of biotechnology stem from our science. Of these products, we
manufacture and market seven directly in the United States, and we are preparing to begin manu-
facturing and marketing the eighth:

• Herceptin® (trastuzumab) antibody for the treatment of certain patients with metastatic breast
cancer whose tumors overexpress the human epidermal growth factor receptor2, or HER2, protein;

• Rituxan® (rituximab) antibody for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory low-grade
or follicular, CD20-positive B-cell non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma;

• Activase® (alteplase) tissue plasminogen activator, or t-PA, for the treatment of heart attack, acute
ischemic stroke within three hours of the onset of symptoms, and acute massive pulmonary
embolism;

• Protropin® (somatrem for injection) growth hormone  for the treatment of inadequate endogenous
growth hormone secretion, or growth hormone deficiency, in children;

• Nutropin® [somatropin (rDNA origin) for injection] growth hormone for the treatment of growth
hormone deficiency in children and adults, growth failure associated with chronic renal insuffi-
ciency prior to kidney transplantation and short stature associated with Turner syndrome;

• Nutropin AQ® [somatropin (rDNA origin) injection] liquid formulation growth hormone for the
same indications as Nutropin;

• Pulmozyme® (dornase alfa, recombinant) inhalation solution for the management of cystic
fibrosis; and

• Nutropin Depot™ [somatropin (rDNA origin) for injectable suspension] encapsulated sustained-
release growth hormone for the treatment of pediatric growth hormone deficiency. We have
received regulatory approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, commonly known as
the FDA, to market Nutropin Depot, and we expect to launch the product in the first half of 2000.

We receive royalties on sales of rituximab outside of the United States (excluding Japan), on sales
of Pulmozyme and Herceptin outside of the United States and on sales of certain products in Canada
from F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, an affiliate of Roche Holdings, Inc., that is commonly known as
Hoffmann-La Roche. We receive royalties on sales of growth hormone products and t-PA outside of the
United States and Canada, and on sales of rituximab in Japan through other licensees. We also receive
worldwide royalties on seven additional licensed products that are marketed by other companies. Six
of these products originated from our technology.

On June 30, 1999, we redeemed all of our outstanding Special Common Stock held by stockholders other
than Roche Holdings, Inc., commonly known as Roche, at a price of $41.25 per share in cash with funds
deposited by Roche for that purpose. We refer to this event as the “Redemption.” As a result of the
Redemption, Roche’s percentage ownership of our outstanding Common Stock increased from 65% to
100%. Consequently, under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, we were required to use push-
down accounting to reflect in our financial statements the amounts paid for our stock in excess of our net
book value. Push-down accounting required us to record $1,706.0 million of goodwill and $1,499.0 mil-
lion of other intangible assets onto our balance sheet in the second quarter of 1999. Also, as a result of
push-down accounting, we recorded special charges related to the Redemption of $1,207.7 million in
1999. For more information about special charges and push-down accounting, you should read “Special
Charges” below and the “Redemption of Our Special Common Stock” note in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. Roche subsequently made public offerings of our Common Stock as described below.

Public Offerings

On July 23, 1999, and October 26, 1999, Roche completed public offerings of our Common Stock. As a
result, Roche’s percentage ownership of our outstanding Common Stock was reduced to approximately
66.1% at December 31, 1999. We did not receive any of the net proceeds from the offerings. Our
Common Stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DNA on July 20, 1999.

As a result of the Redemption and subsequent public offerings, changes occurred with respect to our
stock options as discussed below in “Stock Option Changes.” In addition, we amended our certificate
of incorporation and bylaws, amended our licensing and marketing agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche
and entered into or amended certain agreements with Roche. You should read the “Relationship with
Roche” note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements below for more information.

Stock Split

On November 2, 1999, we effected a two-for-one stock split of our Common Stock in the form
of a dividend of one share of Genentech Common Stock for each share held at the close of busi-
ness on October 29, 1999. Our stock began trading on a split-adjusted basis on November 3,
1999. All information in this annual report relating to the number of shares, price per share and
per share amounts of Common Stock and Special Common Stock gives effect to the split.

Overview of Our Business Redemption of Our Special Common Stock
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Pro forma results exclude special charges related to the Redemption and legal settlements, and
recurring charges related to the Redemption, and their related tax effects. These charges are further
discussed below in “Special Charges” and “Recurring Charges Related to Redemption.”

Total Revenues: Total revenues for 1999 reached
$1,421.4 million, a 24% increase from 1998
primarily due to higher product sales. 

Pro forma revenues for 1999 were $1,401.0
million, reflecting an increase of 22% from 1998
driven by higher product sales. Revenues for 1998
increased 13% from 1997. This increase was also
attributable to higher product sales. These increas-
es are further discussed below.

Total Product Sales: Total product sales were
$1,039.1 million in 1999, an increase of 45%
from 1998, reflecting the effect of strong Rituxan
sales, a full year of Herceptin sales and higher
Activase sales. Product sales increased 23% in
1998 from 1997 as a result of a full year of
Rituxan sales and initial Herceptin sales in the
fourth quarter of 1998. This increase was partly
offset by lower Activase and growth hormone
sales in 1998. Product sales in connection with
our licensing agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche
were $41.3 million in 1999, $28.7 million in
1998 and $17.4 million in 1997. See
“Relationship with Roche” below for further infor-
mation about our licensing agreement with
Hoffmann-La Roche.

Herceptin: Sales of Herceptin were $188.4 million in
1999. We recorded $30.5 million of initial sales of
Herceptin in the fourth quarter of 1998. An increase in
physician acceptance of Herceptin has contributed to a
positive sales trend and successful penetration into the
breast cancer market. Herceptin was first marketed in
September 1998 and is the first humanized monoclon-
al antibody for the treatment of HER2 overexpressing
metastatic breast cancer. We have granted Hoffmann-La
Roche exclusive marketing rights to Herceptin outside of
the United States.

Rituxan: Sales of Rituxan were $279.4 million in
1999, an increase of 72% from 1998. This increase
was primarily due to increased market penetration for
the treatment of B-cell non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. Sales
of Rituxan were $162.6 million in 1998, its first full
year of sales. Rituxan was approved for marketing by
the FDA in late November 1997, and we launched
Rituxan in December 1997. We co-developed Rituxan
with IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation, commonly
known as IDEC, from which we license Rituxan. IDEC
and Genentech are jointly promoting Rituxan in the U.S.
We shared responsibility with IDEC for manufacturing
the product until the end of the third quarter of 1999,
when IDEC finished transferring all bulk manufacturing
responsibilities for Rituxan to us. Our partner Hoffmann-
La Roche received permission from the European
Commission to market rituximab under the tradename
MabThera® in the European Union. Hoffmann-La Roche holds marketing rights for MabThera out-
side of the U.S., excluding Japan, and has agreed to pay us royalties and a mark-up on MabThera
supplied to Hoffmann-La Roche.

In December 1998, a letter was sent to physicians advising them of some deaths associated with
administration of Rituxan. As a result, Genentech and IDEC updated the warning section of the pack-
age insert to include information on infusion-related reactions and cardiovascular events.

Financial Review (continued)
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Activase: Sales of Activase t-PA were $236.0 million in
1999, an increase of 11% from 1998. This increase was
largely due to the usage of Activase in peripheral vascular
occlusive disease in lieu of another company’s throm-
bolytic that was unavailable. This increase was offset in
part by a continued decline in the overall size of the
thrombolytic therapy market due to increasing use of
mechanical reperfusion and continued competition from
Centocor, Inc.’s Retavase® (reteplase). Sales of Activase
in 1998 decreased 18% from 1997 primarily due to com-
petition from Retavase. The decrease in 1998 also result-
ed, to a lesser extent, from a decline in the size of the
thrombolytic market and from a temporary decrease in
the available commercial market due to patients receiving
therapy through large Phase III clinical trials completed in
1998.

Protropin, Nutropin and Nutropin AQ: Sales of our three
growth hormone products — Protropin, Nutropin and
Nutropin AQ, — were $221.2 million in 1999, a slight
increase from 1998. This increase primarily reflects fluctua-
tions in distributor ordering patterns. Sales of our growth
hormone products decreased slightly in 1998 from 1997. A
small loss of market share was seen in 1998 due to
increased competition. We continue to face increased com-
petition from four other companies with growth hormone
products. An additional company was previously preliminari-
ly enjoined from selling its product, but it is now free to enter
the market.

In December 1999, we received FDA approval for
Nutropin Depot, the first long-acting dosage form of recom-
binant growth hormone for pediatric growth hormone defi-
ciency. We expect to launch the product in the first half
of 2000.

Pulmozyme: Sales of Pulmozyme were $111.4 million
in 1999, an increase of 19% from 1998. This increase
was due to our continued market penetration for the
management of cystic fibrosis in the early and mild
patient populations. Sales of Pulmozyme were slightly
higher in 1998 compared to 1997 primarily as a result
of new patients in the mild to moderate cystic fibrosis
patient population and new cystic fibrosis patients under
the age of five due to a 1998 FDA approval for a label
extension.

Actimmune® (interferon gamma-1b): In the second
quarter of 1998, in return for a royalty on net sales, we
licensed U.S. marketing and development rights to inter-
feron gamma, including Actimmune, to Connetics Corp-
oration. Thereafter, Connetics sublicensed all of its rights to InterMune Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or
InterMune. After a transition period, as of January 1999, we no longer sell Actimmune directly in
the United States. We have agreed to supply bulk materials to InterMune at cost plus a mark-up.

Royalties: Royalty income was $189.3 million in 1999, a decrease of 18% from 1998. Royalties
in 1998 decreased 5% from 1997. These decreases primarily relate to the expiration of royalties
from Eli Lilly and Company in August 1998. Under a 1994 settlement agreement and a prior license
agreement with Eli Lilly, we received royalties for sales of Humulin® (human insulin) which expired
in August 1998. The decrease in 1999 was partly offset by higher royalties from various licensees,
and new royalties from Immunex Corporation under a licensing agreement for Enbrel® (etanercept)
biologic response modifier. Cash flows from royalty income include revenues denominated in foreign
currency. We currently purchase simple foreign currency put option contracts (options) to hedge these
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royalty cash flows. All options expire within the next
three years. See “Forward-Looking Information and
Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results”
below for discussion of market risks related to these
financial instruments.

Contract and Other Revenues: Contract and other
revenues were $103.6 million in 1999, a
decrease of 10% from 1998. This decrease which
is further explained below, was partly offset by an
adjustment of $20.3 million related to the write-up
of certain marketable securities on June 30, 1999
as a result of push-down accounting. See the
“Redemption of Our Special Common Stock” note
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for further information on push-down accounting. 

Pro forma contract and other revenues in 1999,
which exclude the effect of push-down accounting,
were $83.2 million, a decrease of 28% from
1998. This decrease resulted primarily from higher
revenues in 1998 related to payments from
Hoffmann-La Roche for Herceptin marketing rights
and from Novo Nordisk A/S, commonly known as
Novo, for the patent infringement litigation settle-
ment, as discussed below. These decreases were
offset in part by higher revenues in 1999 from our
strategic alliances, including initial license fees
from Immunex Corporation for Enbrel and from
Schwarz Pharma AG for Nutropin AQ and Nutropin
Depot sustained-release growth hormone, and
higher gains from the sale of biotechnology equity securities. Contract and other revenues in 1998
decreased 6% from 1997 as a result of lower contract revenues from our strategic alliances and
lower gains from the sale of biotechnology equity securities. In addition, contract revenues from
Hoffmann-La Roche in 1998 decreased significantly from 1997 primarily due to the discontinuation
of several projects or indications in development.

In July 1998, we settled a lawsuit brought by us against Novo relating to our patents for human
growth hormone and insulin and a lawsuit brought by Novo alleging infringement of a patent held
by Novo relating to our manufacture, use and sale of our Nutropin human growth hormone prod-
ucts. Under the settlement agreement, we agreed with Novo to cross-license worldwide certain
patents relating to human growth hormone. In August 1998, Novo received a worldwide license
under our patents relating to insulin, and we received certain payments from Novo that were record-
ed in contract revenues.

We recorded nonrecurring contract revenues from
Hoffmann-La Roche of $40.0 million in 1998 for
Herceptin marketing rights outside of the U.S. All other
contract revenue from Hoffmann-La Roche, including
reimbursement for ongoing development expenses after
the option exercise date, totaled $17.2 million in 1999,
$21.6 million in 1998 and $67.6 million in 1997.

Interest Income: Interest income in 1999 was compa-
rable to 1998. Although our cash, short-term and long-
term investment portfolio, excluding marketable equity
securities, at December 31, 1999 decreased from
December 31, 1998, the average portfolio balance for
the year was higher than the previous year. This result-
ed in an increase in interest income, which was offset by lower portfolio yields. Interest income
increased in 1998 from 1997 primarily due to an increase in the investment portfolio and, to a
lesser extent, a higher average yield on the investment portfolio.

Cost of Sales: Cost of sales, or COS, was $285.6 million in 1999, an increase of 106% from 1998. This
increase reflects the costs related to the sale of inventory that was written up at the Redemption due to push-
down accounting. The remaining inventory that was written up is expected to be sold in 2000.
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Pro forma cost of sales in 1999, exclusive of
the expense related to the sale of the inventory
written up at the Redemption due to push-down
accounting, was $192.2 million, a 39% increase
from 1998. Cost of sales as a percent of net
sales, exclusive of the expense related to the sale
of the inventory written up, decreased to 18% in
1999 from 1998. This decrease was primarily
driven by efficiencies in production and a more
favorable product mix. Cost of sales as a percent
of product sales increased to 19% in 1998 from
1997. This increase was primarily the result of
increased sales to Hoffmann-La Roche as well as a
shift in the product mix, including the first full year
of Rituxan sales and the introduction of Herceptin.
The economic benefits from sales to Hoffmann-La
Roche are reflected in product sales and royalties.

Research and Development: Research and devel-
opment, or R&D, expenses in 1999 were $367.3
million, down 7% from 1998 as a result of
reduced spending as products progressed through
late-stage clinical trials. R&D expenses in 1998
decreased 16% from 1997 primarily due to the
wind-down of certain large late-stage clinical trials
and lower expenses for licensing technology from
third parties. The decrease in 1998 was partly off-
set by higher costs related to large-scale develop-
ment collaborations. R&D as a percentage of pro
forma revenues was 26% in 1999, 34% in 1998
and 46% in 1997. The lower ratios from year to
year reflect growing revenues and more recently in
1999 and 1998 a decrease in R&D spending.

To gain additional access to potential new prod-
ucts and technologies, and to utilize other compa-

nies to help develop potential new products, we establish
strategic alliances with various companies. These compa-
nies are developing technologies that may fall outside our
research focus and through technology exchanges and
investments with these companies we may have the
potential to generate new products. As part of these strate-
gic alliances, we have acquired equity and convertible debt
securities of such companies. We have also entered into
product-specific collaborations to acquire development and
marketing rights for products.

Marketing, General and Administrative: Marketing,
general and administrative, or MG&A, expenses in 1999
increased 30% from 1998, and such expenses in 1998
increased 33% from 1997. The increase in 1999 was driv-
en mainly by support of the growth of our oncology prod-
ucts, including the profit-sharing with IDEC related to Rituxan sales, and competitive conditions with
other marketed products. Additional increases came from higher royalty, legal and corporate expens-
es. The 33% increase in 1998 was due to the introduction of Rituxan and related profit-sharing with
IDEC, the launch of Herceptin and a new indication for Nutropin and Nutropin AQ, competitive con-
ditions with other marketed products and the write-down of certain biotechnology equity securities.

Special Charges: During 1999, we had special charges of $1,437.7 million related to the
Redemption and the application of push-down accounting, and legal settlements. The Redemption
related charge of $1,207.7 million primarily included: (1) a noncash charge of $752.5 million for
in-process research and development, (2) $284.5 million of compensation expense related to early
cash settlement of certain employee stock options and (3) an aggregate of approximately $160.1
million as a noncash charge for the remeasurement of the value of continuing employee stock
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options. The legal settlements charge included: (1) a $50.0 million settlement related to a feder-
al investigation of our past clinical, sales and marketing activities associated with human growth
hormone; and (2) a $180.0 million settlement on the patent infringement lawsuits brought by the
University of California relating to our human growth hormone products. See “In-Process Research
and Development” below and “Redemption of Our Special Common Stock” and “Leases,
Commitments and Contingencies” notes in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for fur-
ther information regarding these special charges.

Recurring Charges Related to Redemption: We began recording recurring charges related to the
Redemption and push-down accounting in the third quarter of 1999. These charges were $198.4
million in 1999 and were comprised of $191.1 million related to the amortization of other intangi-
ble assets and goodwill, and $7.3 million of compensation expense related to alternative arrange-
ments provided at the time of the Redemption for certain holders of some of the unvested options.

Interest Expense: Interest expense will fluctuate depending on the amount of capitalized interest
related to the amount of construction projects. Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized, relates
to interest on our 5% convertible subordinated debentures.

Income Tax: The tax benefit of $196.4 million for 1999 consists of tax expense of $121.5 million
on pretax income excluding the income and deductions attributable to push-down accounting and
legal settlements, and tax benefits of $317.9 million related to income and deductions attributable
to push-down accounting and legal settlements. Our effective tax rate for 1999 was approximately
15%. The tax rate on pretax income excluding non-recurring special charges was 50% for 1999,
which reflects the impact of non-deductible goodwill amortization related to push-down accounting.

The pro forma 1999 effective tax rate of 33% is higher than the 1998 effective tax rate of 28%
primarily due to reduced research credits and realization of foreign losses. The 1998 effective tax
rate increased from the 24% rate in 1997 primarily due to reduced research credits.

We expect our effective tax rate on pro forma income to increase to approximately 34% in
2000. Our effective tax rate on pretax income, including recurring Redemption related charges, will
be adversely affected due to a full year of nondeductible goodwill amortization.

Net Income (Loss): The net loss in 1999 of $1,144.5 million, or a loss of $4.46 per share, is
attributable to the Redemption and related push-down accounting, legal settlements, and their relat-
ed tax effects.

Pro forma net income in 1999 was $246.7 million, or $0.93 per share, a 36% increase in pro
forma net income from 1998. This increase was due to higher Herceptin, Rituxan and Activase sales
and lower R&D spending. The increase was partly offset by higher MG&A expenses, higher cost of
sales, higher income taxes and lower royalty and contract and other revenues. The 41% increase in
net income in 1998 from 1997 was driven primarily by sales of Rituxan and Herceptin, lower R&D
expenses and higher interest income. These revenue increases and lower expenses were partly offset
by higher MG&A expenses, a decrease in Activase sales, higher cost of sales and higher income taxes.

In-Process Research and Development: At June 30, 1999, the Redemption date, we determined
that the acquired in-process technology was not technologically feasible and that the in-process

Financial Review (continued)

3636

Income Before Taxes 1999
and Income Taxes Actual Pro Forma 1998 1997

Income (loss) before taxes $ (1,340.9) $ 368.2 $ 252.6 $ 169.8
Income tax (benefit) provision (196.4) 121.5 70.7 40.8
Effective tax rate 15% 33% 28% 24%

Recurring Charges 1999
Related to Redemption Actual Pro Forma 1998 1997

Recurring charges
related to redemption $ 198.4 — — —

Annual % Change
1999 Pro Forma

Interest Expense Actual Pro Forma 1998 1997 99/98 98/97

Interest expense $ 5.4 $ 5.4 $ 4.6 $ 3.6 17% 28%

Annual % Change
1999 Pro Forma

Net Income (Loss) Actual Pro Forma 1998 1997 99/98 98/97

Net income (loss) $ (1,144.5) $ 246.7 $ 181.9 $ 129.0 36% 41%
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic $ (4.46) $ 0.96 $ 0.72 $ 0.52
Diluted $ (4.46) $ 0.93 $ 0.70 $ 0.51



technology had no future alternative uses. As a result, $500.5 million of in-process research and
development related to Roche’s 1990 through 1997 purchases of our Common Stock was charged
to retained earnings, and $752.5 million of in-process research and development related to the
Redemption was charged to operations at June 30, 1999.

The amounts of in-process research and development were determined based on an analysis using
the risk-adjusted cash flows expected to be generated by the products that result from the in-process
projects. The analysis included forecasted future cash flows that were expected to result from the
progress made on each of the in-process projects prior to the purchase dates. These cash flows were
estimated by first forecasting, on a product-by-product basis, total revenues expected from sales of the
first generation of each in-process product. A portion of the gross in-process product revenues was then
removed to account for the contribution provided by any core technology, which was considered to ben-
efit the in-process products. The net in-process revenue was then multiplied by the project’s estimated
percentage of completion as of the purchase dates to determine a forecast of net in-process research
and development revenues attributable to projects completed prior to the purchase dates. Appropriate
operating expenses, cash flow adjustments and contributory asset returns were deducted from the fore-
cast to establish a forecast of net returns on the completed portion of the in-process technology. Finally,

these net returns were discounted to a present value at discount rates that incorporate both the weight-
ed average cost of capital (relative to the biotech industry and us) as well as the product specific risk
associated with the purchased in-process research and development products. The product specific risk
factors included each product in each phase of development, type of molecule under development,
likelihood of regulatory approval, manufacturing process capability, scientific rationale, preclinical safe-
ty and efficacy data, target product profile and development plan. The discount rates ranged from 16%
to 19% for the 1999 valuation and 20% to 28% for the 1990 purchase valuation, all of which rep-
resent a significant risk premium to our weighted average cost of capital.

The forecast data in the analysis was based on internal product level forecast information main-
tained by our management in the ordinary course of managing the business. The inputs used by us
in analyzing in-process research and development were based on assumptions, which we believed
to be reasonable but which were inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These assumptions may
be incomplete or inaccurate, and no assurance can be given that unanticipated events and circum-
stances will not occur.

A brief description of projects that were included in the in-process research and development
charge is set forth below, including an estimated percentage of completion as of the Redemption
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As of the Redemption Date, June 30, 1999

Substantial 
Project Description/Indication Phase of Development Completion Date % Complete

Nutropin Depot long-acting dosage form of recombinant growth hormone Awaiting Regulatory Approval 2000 85%
TNKase™ second generation t-PA acute myocardial infarction Awaiting Regulatory Approval 2000 90%
Anti-IgE antibody allergic asthma, seasonal allergic rhinitis Phase III 2001 75%
Pulmozyme early-stage cystic fibrosis Phase III 2003 75%
Dornase alfa AERx™ Delivery System cystic fibrosis Preparing for Clinical Testing 2003 45%
Rituxan antibody intermediate- and high-grade non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma Phase III 2004 60%
Xubix™ (sibrafiban) oral IIb/IIIa antagonist orally administered inhibitor of platelet aggregation Phase III 2000 65%
Activase t-PA intravenous catheter clearance Preparing for Phase III 1999 90%
Anti-CD11a antibody (hull24) psoriasis Phase III 2003 50%
Herceptin antibody adjuvant therapy for breast cancer Preparing for Phase III 2007 45%
Thrombopoietin (TPO) thrombocytopenia related to cancer treatment Phase II 2002 55%
Anti-CD18 antibody acute myocardial infarction Phase II 2004 55%
Anti-VEGF antibody colorectal and lung cancer Phase II 2003 35-40%
Herceptin antibody other tumors Preparing for Phase II 2004 40-45%
AMD Fab age-related macular degeneration Phase I 2004 20%
LDP-02 inflammatory bowel disease Phase Ib/IIa 2005 30%



date. Projects subsequently added to the research and development pipeline are not included.
Except as otherwise noted below, there have been no significant changes to the projects since the
Redemption date. We do not track all costs associated with research and development on a project-
by-project basis. Therefore, we believe a calculation of cost incurred as a percentage of total incurred
project cost as of FDA approval is not possible. We estimated, however, that the research and devel-
opment expenditures that will be required to complete the in-process projects will total at least
$750.0 million, as compared to $700.0 million as of the Redemption date. This estimate reflects
an increase in certain cost estimates related to early stage projects partially offset by decreases in
cost to complete estimates for other projects.

The foregoing discussion of our in-process research and development projects, and in particular
the above table and subsequent paragraphs regarding the future of these projects, our additional
product programs and our process technology program include forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties, and actual results may vary materially. For a discussion of risk fac-
tors that may affect projected completion dates and the progress of research and development, see
“Forward-Looking Information and Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results – The Results
of Our Research and Development Are Unpredictable,” “– Protecting Our Proprietary Rights Is
Difficult and Costly” and “– Our Products Are Subject to Governmental Regulations and Approvals.”

At the Redemption date, we estimated percentage complete data for each project based on
weighting of three indicators, as follows:

PTS: Probability of technical success, or PTS, is a project level statistic maintained by us on an
ongoing basis, which is intended to represent the current likelihood of project success, i.e., FDA
approval. This is a quantitative calculation based on the stage of development and the complexity
of the project, and it is highly correlated with the project’s phase of development. PTS is periodi-
cally adjusted to reflect actual experiences over a reasonable period of time.

Status compared to Baseline Model: We developed a baseline model which allocated percent-
ages of a standard development project to each major phase of the project based on our experi-
ence. We then overlaid the time-based status of each project to this baseline model, in order to cal-
culate a percentage complete for each project.

Management’s Estimate of Percentage Complete: Above is a list of the projects and their esti-
mated percentage complete included in the in-process research and development charge related to
the Redemption.

We also identified five additional product programs that were at different stages of in-process
research and development. As of June 30, 1999, the Redemption date, we estimated that these
projects would be substantially complete in years 1999 through 2004. The percent completion for
each of these additional programs ranged from an estimated 35% to 90%. These projects did not
receive material allocations of the purchase price.

In addition, our in-process research and development at the Redemption date included a process
technology program. The process technology program included the research and development of
ideas and techniques that could improve the bulk production of antibodies, including cell culture
productivity, streamlined and improved recovery processes, and improvements in various areas of
pharmaceutical manufacturing. We estimated that the process technology program was approxi-
mately 50% complete at the Redemption date.

The significant changes to the projects in the in-process R&D charge since the Redemption date
as of December 31, 1999, include:

• Nutropin Depot sustained-release growth hormone – project was substantially completed in 1999.
• Anti-IgE antibody – project has moved from Phase III studies to preparing FDA filing.
• Xubix (sibrafiban) oral IIb/IIIa antagonist – project has been discontinued.
• Anti-VEGF antibody – project has moved from Phase II studies to preparing for Phase III studies.
• Dornase alfa AERx  – project has moved to Phase IIa studies.

Stock Option Changes

In connection with the Redemption of our Special Common Stock, the following changes occurred
with respect to our stock options that were outstanding as of June 30, 1999:

• Options for the purchase of approximately 13.6 million shares of Special Common Stock were
canceled in accordance with the terms of the applicable stock option plans, and the holders
received cash payments in the amount of $41.25 per share, less the exercise price;

• Options for the purchase of approximately 8.0 million shares of Special Common Stock were con-
verted into options to purchase a like number of shares of Common Stock at the same exercise
price; and

• Options for the purchase of approximately 9.8 million shares of Special Common Stock were
canceled in accordance with the terms of our 1996 Stock Option/Stock Incentive Plan (the
“1996 Plan”). With certain exceptions, we granted new options for the purchase of 2.666
times the number of shares under the previous options with an exercise price of $48.50 per
share, which was the July 23, 1999 public offering price of the Common Stock. The number of
shares that were the subject of these new options, which were issued under our 1999 Stock
Plan (the “1999 Plan”), was approximately 10.0 million. Alternative arrangements were pro-
vided for certain holders of some of the unvested options under the 1996 Plan.
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Of the approximately 8.0 million shares of converted options, options with respect to approxi-
mately 4.8 million shares were outstanding at December 31, 1999, all of which are currently exer-
cisable except for options with respect to approximately 356,000 shares. These outstanding
options are held by 1,850 employees; no nonemployee directors hold these options.

Our board of directors and Roche, then our sole stockholder, approved the 1999 Plan on July
16, 1999. Under the 1999 Plan, we granted new options to purchase approximately 13.0 million
shares (including the 10.0 million shares referred to above) of Common Stock to approximately
2,400 employees at an exercise price of $48.50 per share, with the grant of such options made
effective as of July 16, 1999. Of the options to purchase these 13.0 million shares, options to pur-
chase approximately 12.0 million shares were outstanding at December 31, 1999, of which
options to purchase approximately 1.3 million shares were exercisable.

In connection with these stock option transactions, we recorded:

• (1) cash compensation expense of approximately $284.5 million associated with the cash-out
of such stock options and (2) noncash compensation expense of approximately $160.1 million
associated with the remeasurement, for accounting purposes, of the converted options, which
noncash amount represents the difference between each applicable option exercise price and the
redemption price of the Special Common Stock; and

• Over a two-year period beginning July 1, 1999, an aggregate of approximately $27.4 million
of deferred cash compensation available to be earned by a limited number of employees who
elected the alternative arrangements described above. As of December 31, 1999, $7.3 million
of compensation expense has been recorded related to these alternative arrangements.

Relationship with Roche

As a result of the Redemption of our Special Common Stock, the then-existing governance agree-
ment between us and Roche terminated, except for provisions relating to indemnification and stock
options, warrants and convertible securities. In July 1999, we entered into certain affiliation
arrangements with Roche, amended our licensing and marketing agreement with Hoffmann-La
Roche, and entered into a tax sharing agreement with Roche as follows:

Affiliation Arrangements
Our board of directors consists of two Roche directors, three independent directors nominated by a
nominating committee currently controlled by Roche, and one Genentech employee. However,
under the affiliation agreement, Roche has the right to obtain proportional representation on our

board at any time. Roche intends to continue to allow our current management to conduct our busi-
ness and operations as we have done in the past. However, we cannot ensure that Roche will not
implement a new business plan in the future. 

Except as follows, the affiliation arrangements do not limit Roche’s ability to buy or sell our
Common Stock. If Roche and its affiliates sell their majority ownership of shares of our Common
Stock to a successor, Roche has agreed that it will cause the successor to purchase all shares of our
Common Stock not held by Roche as follows:

• with consideration, if that consideration is composed entirely of either cash or equity traded on
a U.S. national securities exchange, in the same form and amounts per share as received by
Roche and its affiliates; and

• in all other cases, with consideration that has a value per share not less than the weighted aver-
age value per share received by Roche and its affiliates as determined by a nationally recognized
investment bank.

If Roche owns more than 90% of our Common Stock for more than two months, Roche has
agreed that it will, as soon as reasonably practicable, effect a merger of Genentech with Roche or
an affiliate of Roche.

Roche has agreed, as a condition to any merger of Genentech with Roche or the sale of our
assets to Roche, that either:

• the merger or sale must be authorized by the favorable vote of a majority of non-Roche stock-
holders, provided no person will be entitled to cast more than 5% of the votes at the meeting; or

• in the event such a favorable vote is not obtained, the value of the consideration to be received by
non-Roche stockholders would be equal to or greater than the average of the means of the ranges
of fair values for the Common Stock as determined by two nationally recognized investment banks.

We have agreed not to approve, without the prior approval of the directors designated by Roche:

• any acquisition, sale or other disposal of all or a portion of our business representing 10% or
more of our assets, net income or revenues;

• any issuance of capital stock except under certain circumstances; or
• any repurchase or redemption of our capital stock other than a redemption required by the terms

of any security and purchases made at fair market value in connection with any of our deferred
compensation plans.
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Licensing Agreement
In 1995, we entered into a licensing and marketing agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche and its
affiliates granting it a 10-year option to license to use and sell products in non-U.S. markets. In July
1999, we amended that agreement, the major provisions of which include:

• extending Hoffmann-La Roche’s option until at least 2015;
• Hoffmann-La Roche may exercise its option to license our products upon the occurrence of any

of the following: (1) our decision to file an Investigational New Drug exemption application, or
IND, for a product, (2) completion of a Phase II trial for a product or (3) if Hoffmann-La Roche
previously paid us a fee of $10 million to extend its option on a product, completion of a Phase
III trial for that product;

• we agreed, in general, to manufacture for and supply to Hoffmann-La Roche its clinical require-
ments of our products at cost, and its commercial requirements at cost plus a margin of 20%;
however, Hoffmann-La Roche will have the right to manufacture our products under certain
circumstances;

• Hoffmann-La Roche has agreed to pay, for each product for which Hoffmann-La Roche exercises
its option upon either a decision to file an IND with the FDA or completion of the Phase II trials,
a royalty of 12.5% on the first $100 million on its aggregate sales of that product and there-
after a royalty of 15% on its aggregate sales of that product in excess of $100 million until the
later in each country of the expiration of our last relevant patent or 25 years from the first com-
mercial introduction of that product; and

• Hoffmann-La Roche will pay, for each product for which Hoffmann-La Roche exercises its option
after completion of the Phase III trials, a royalty of 15% on its sales of that product until the
later in each country of the expiration of our relevant patent or 25 years from the first com-
mercial introduction of that product; however, $5 million of any option extension fee paid by
Hoffmann-La Roche will be credited against royalties payable to us in the first calendar year of
sales by Hoffmann-La Roche in which aggregate sales of that product exceed $100 million.

Tax Sharing Agreement
Since the redemption of our Special Common Stock, and until Roche completed its public offering
of our Common Stock in October 1999, we were included in Roche’s U.S. federal consolidated
income tax group. Accordingly, we entered into a tax sharing agreement with Roche. Pursuant to
the tax sharing agreement, we and Roche are to make payments such that the net amount paid
by us on account of consolidated or combined income taxes is determined as if we had filed

separate, stand-alone federal, state and local income tax returns as the common parent of an affil-
iated group of corporations filing consolidated or combined federal, state and local returns.

Effective with the consummation of the second public offering on October 26, 1999, we ceased
to be a member of the consolidated federal income tax group (and certain consolidated or com-
bined state and local income tax groups) of which Roche is the common parent. Accordingly, our
tax sharing agreement with Roche now pertains only to the state and local tax returns in which we
will be consolidated or combined with Roche. We will continue to calculate our tax liability or refund
with Roche for these state and local jurisdictions as if we were a stand-alone entity.

Roche’s Right to Maintain Its Percentage
Ownership Interest in Our Stock
We expect from time to time to issue additional shares of common stock in connection with our stock
option and stock purchase plans, and we may issue additional shares for other purposes. The affilia-
tion agreement requires us to, among other things, establish a stock repurchase program designed
to maintain Roche’s percentage ownership interest in our common stock. In addition, Roche will have
a continuing option to buy stock from us at prevailing market prices to maintain its percentage own-
ership interest. To ensure that, with respect to any issuance of common stock by Genentech in the
future, the percentage of Genentech common stock owned by Roche immediately after such issuance
will be no lower than Roche’s lowest percentage ownership of Genentech common stock at any time
after the offering of common stock occurring in July 1999 and prior to the time of such issuance,
except that Genentech may issue shares up to an amount that would cause Roche’s lowest percent-
age ownership to be no more than 2% below the “Minimum Percentage.” The Minimum Percentage
equals the lowest number of shares of Genentech common stock owned by Roche since the July
1999 offering (to be adjusted in the future for dispositions of shares of Genentech common stock
by Roche) divided by 254,597,176 (to be adjusted in the future for stock splits or stock combina-
tions), which is the number of shares of Genentech common stock outstanding at the time of the
July 1999 offering adjusted for the two-for-one split of our common stock in November 1999. As
long as Roche’s percentage ownership is greater than 50%, prior to issuing any shares, Genentech
must repurchase a sufficient number of shares of its common stock to ensure that, immediately after
its issuance of shares, Roche’s percentage ownership will be greater than 50%. We have also agreed,
upon Roche’s request, to repurchase shares of our common stock to increase Roche’s ownership to
the Minimum Percentage. Roche owned approximately 66.1% of our common stock at December
31, 1999.
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Cash generated from operations, income from investments and proceeds from stock issuances were
used to pay for the cash-out of stock options related to the Redemption in 1999, to purchase mar-
ketable securities and to make capital and equity investments.

Capital expenditures in 1999 primarily consisted of equipment purchases and improvements to
existing manufacturing and service facilities. Capital expenditures in 1998 included improvements
to existing office and laboratory facilities and equipment purchases. In 1997, capital expenditures
primarily included building improvements to existing manufacturing and office facilities and produc-
tion systems.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with funds pro-
vided by operations and leasing arrangements, will be sufficient to meet our foreseeable operating
cash requirements. In addition, we believe we could access additional funds from the debt and,
under certain circumstances, capital markets. See also “A Variety of Factors Could Affect Our
Liquidity” below for factors that could negatively affect our cash position.

Our long-term debt consists of $149.7 million of convertible subordinated debentures, with inter-
est payable at 5%, due in 2002. As a result of the redemption of our Special Common Stock, upon
conversion, the holder receives, for each $74 in principal amount of debenture converted, $59.25
in cash, of which $18 will be reimbursed to us by Roche. Generally, we may redeem the deben-
tures until maturity.

The following section contains forward-looking information based on our current expectations.
Because our actual results may differ materially from this and any other forward-looking statements
made by or on behalf of Genentech, this section also includes a discussion of important factors that
could affect our actual future results, including our product sales, royalties, contract revenues,
expenses and net income.

Our Operating Results May Fluctuate
Our operating results may vary from period to period for several reasons including, but not limited to:

• the overall competitive environment for our products; 
• the amount and timing of sales to customers in the United States;
• the amount and timing of our sales to Hoffmann-La Roche and the amount and timing of its sales

to its customers;
• the timing and volume of bulk shipments to licensees; 
• the availability of third-party reimbursements for the cost of therapy;
• the effectiveness and safety of our products; 
• the rate of adoption and use of our products for approved indications and additional indications;
• the potential introduction of new products and additional indications for existing products in

2000 and beyond; and
• the ability to manufacture sufficient quantities of any particular marketed product.

The Results of Our Research and Development Are Unpredictable
Successful pharmaceutical product development is highly uncertain and is dependent on numerous
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Products that appear promising in the early phases
of development may fail to reach the market for numerous reasons, including, but not limited to:

• they may be found to be ineffective or to have harmful side effects in preclinical or clinical
testing;

• they may fail to receive necessary regulatory approvals; 
• they may turn out to be uneconomical because of manufacturing costs or other factors; or
• they may be precluded from commercialization by the proprietary rights of others or by com-

peting products or technologies for the same indication.

Liquidity and 
Capital Resources 1999 1998 1997

December 31:
Cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and

long-term marketable debt and equity securities $ 1,957.4 $ 1,604.6 $ 1,286.5
Working capital 842.4 950.6 904.4
Current ratio 2.7:1 4.3:1 4.1:1
Year ended December 31:
Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities (7.4) 349.9 118.3
Investing activities (96.2) (421.1) (168.4)
Financing activities 160.2 107.9 87.3

Capital expenditures
(included in investing activities above) (95.0) (88.1) (154.9)
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Success in preclinical and early clinical trials does not ensure that large-scale clinical trials will be
successful. Clinical results are frequently susceptible to varying interpretations that may delay, limit
or prevent regulatory approvals. The length of time necessary to complete clinical trials and to sub-
mit an application for marketing approval for a final decision by a regulatory authority varies sig-
nificantly and may be difficult to predict.

Factors affecting our research and development expenses include, but are not limited to:

• the number of and the outcome of clinical trials currently being conducted by us and/or our col-
laborators;

• the number of products entering into development from late-stage research;
• Hoffmann-La Roche’s decisions whether to exercise its options to develop and sell our future

products in non-U.S. markets and the timing and amount of any related development cost reim-
bursement;

• in-licensing activities, including the timing and amount of related development funding or mile-
stone payments; and

• future levels of revenues. 

Roche, Our Controlling Stockholder, May Have Interests
That Are Adverse to Other Stockholders
As our majority stockholder, Roche controls the outcome of actions requiring the approval of our stock-
holders. Our bylaws provide, among other things, that the composition of our board of directors shall
consist of two Roche directors, three independent directors nominated by a nominating committee and
one Genentech employee nominated by the nominating committee. As long as Roche owns in excess
of 50% of our Common Stock, Roche directors will comprise two of the three members of the nomi-
nating committee. However, at any time until Roche owns less than 5% of our stock, Roche will have
the right to obtain proportional representation on our board. Roche intends to continue to allow our
current management to conduct our business and operations as we have done in the past. However,
we cannot assure you that Roche will not institute a new business plan in the future. The interests of
Roche may conflict with the interests of other holders of Common Stock. You should also read
“Relationship with Roche” above for further information.

The affiliation agreement between us and Roche requires the approval of the directors designated
by Roche to make any acquisition or any sale or disposal of all or a portion of our business representing
10% or more of our assets, net income or revenues. Moreover, the affiliation agreement also contains
provisions that are designed to enable Roche to maintain a certain percentage ownership interest in
our Common Stock. These provisions may have the effect of limiting our ability to make acquisitions.

The affiliation agreement requires us to, among other things, establish a stock repurchase program
designed to maintain Roche’s percentage ownership interest in our Common Stock. While the dollar
amounts associated with these future purchases cannot currently be estimated, such stock repurchas-
es could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity. For more information, see above
“Relationship with Roche – Roche’s Right to Maintain Its Percentage Ownership Interest in Our Stock.”

Our certificate of incorporation includes provisions relating to competition by Roche with us, alloca-
tions of corporate opportunities, transactions with interested parties and intercompany agreements and
provisions limiting the liability of certain people. Our certificate of incorporation provides that any per-
son purchasing or acquiring an interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have con-
sented to the provisions in the certificate of incorporation relating to competition with Roche, conflicts
of interest, corporate opportunities and intercompany agreements, and such consent may restrict such
person’s ability to challenge transactions carried out in compliance with such provisions. Persons who
are directors and/or officers of ours and who are also directors and/or officers of Roche may choose
to take action in reliance on such provisions rather than act in a manner that might be favorable to us
but adverse to Roche. Two of our directors currently serve as directors, officers and employees of Roche
Holding Ltd and its affiliates. 

We Depend on Skilled Personnel and Key Relationships
The success of our business depends, in large part, on our continued ability to attract and retain
highly qualified management, scientific, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel, and on
our ability to develop and maintain important relationships with leading research institutions and
key distributors. Competition for such personnel and relationships is intense. In connection with the
redemption of our Special Common Stock, two of our existing employee stock option plans termi-
nated and a number of employee options, including many of those held by senior management,
were canceled. We have issued new employee stock options to attract and retain employees.
However, certain provisions of our affiliation agreement with Roche are designed to enable Roche
to maintain its percentage ownership interest in our Common Stock, which may limit our flexibility
as to the number of shares we are able to grant under our stock option plans. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to attract or retain such personnel or maintain such relationships.

We Face Growing and New Competition
We face growing competition in two of our therapeutic markets and expect new competition in a
third market. First, in the thrombolytic market, Activase has lost market share and could lose addi-
tional market share to Centocor’s Retavase® either alone or in combination with the use of anoth-
er Centocor product, ReoPro® (abciximab); the resulting adverse effect on sales could be material.
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Retavase received approval from the FDA in October 1996 for the treatment of acute myocardial
infarction. There is also an increasing use of mechanical reperfusion in lieu of thrombolytic therapy
for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction, which we expect to continue.

Second, in the growth hormone market, we continue to face increased competition from four
other companies with growth hormone products. One additional company had been preliminarily
enjoined from selling its product, but it is now free to enter the market. As a result of this compe-
tition, we have experienced a loss in new patient market share. The four competitors have also
received approval to market their existing human growth hormone products for additional indica-
tions. As a result of this competition, our sales of Protropin, Nutropin and Nutropin AQ may decline,
perhaps significantly.

Third, in the non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma market, Coulter Pharmaceuticals Inc., or Coulter, has filed
a Biologics License Application, or BLA, for a product that may compete with our product Rituxan.
We are also aware of other potentially competitive biologic therapies for non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma
in development.

Other Competitive Factors Could Affect Our Product Sales
Other competitive factors that could affect our product sales include, but are not limited to:

• the timing of FDA approval, if any, of competitive products; 
• our pricing decisions and the pricing decisions of our competitors;
• the degree of patent protection afforded to particular products;
• the outcome of litigation involving our patents and patents of other companies for products and

processes related to production and formulation of those products;
• the increasing use and development of alternate therapies; and 
• the rate of market penetration by competing products. 

In Connection with the Redemption of Our Special Common Stock
We Recorded Substantial Goodwill and Other Intangibles,
the Amortization of Which Will Adversely Affect Our Earnings
As a result of the redemption of our Special Common Stock, Roche owned all of our outstanding
stock. Consequently, push-down accounting under generally accepted accounting principles was
required. Push-down accounting required us to establish a new accounting basis for our assets and
liabilities, based on Roche’s cost in acquiring all of our stock. In other words, Roche’s cost of acquir-
ing Genentech was “pushed down” to us and reflected in our financial statements. Push-down
accounting required us to record goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately $1,706.0

million and $1,499.0 million, respectively, during the second quarter of 1999. The amortization of
this goodwill and other intangible assets will have a significant negative impact on our financial
results in future years. In addition, we will continuously evaluate whether events and circumstances
have occurred that indicate the remaining balance of this and other intangible assets may not be
recoverable. When factors indicate that assets should be evaluated for possible impairment, we may
be required to reduce the carrying value of our intangible assets, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations during the periods in which such
a reduction is recognized. For more information about push-down accounting, see the “Redemption
of Our Special Common Stock” note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our Royalty and Contract Revenues Could Decline
Royalty and contract revenues in future periods could vary significantly. Major factors affecting these
revenues include, but are not limited to:

• Hoffmann-La Roche’s decisions whether to exercise its options and option extensions to develop
and sell our future products in non-U.S. markets and the timing and amount of any related devel-
opment cost reimbursements;

• variations in Hoffmann-La Roche’s sales and other licensees’ sales of licensed products;
• the conclusion of existing arrangements with other companies and Hoffmann-La Roche;
• the timing of non-U.S. approvals, if any, for products licensed to Hoffmann-La Roche and other

licensees;
• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
• the initiation of new contractual arrangements with other companies;
• whether and when contract benchmarks are achieved; 
• the failure of or refusal of a licensee to pay royalties; and 
• the expiration or invalidation of patents or other licensed intellectual property.

Protecting Our Proprietary Rights Is Difficult and Costly
The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and
involve complex legal and factual questions. 

Accordingly, the breadth of claims allowed in these companies’ patents cannot be predicted.
Patent disputes are frequent and can preclude commercialization of products. We have in the past
been, are currently, and may in the future be involved in material patent litigation. Patent litigation
is costly in its own right and could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties and, if decided
adversely, we may need to obtain third party licenses at a material cost or cease using the tech-
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nology or product in dispute. The presence of patents or other proprietary rights belonging to other
parties may lead to the termination of the research and development of a particular product. We
believe that we have strong patent protection or the potential for strong patent protection for a num-
ber of our products that generate sales and royalty revenue or that we are developing. However,
the courts will determine the ultimate strength of patent protection of our products and those on
which we earn royalties. You should read the “Leases, Commitments and Contingencies” note in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

We May Incur Material Litigation Costs
We are subject to legal proceedings, including those matters described in the “Leases,
Commitments and Contingencies” note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Litigation
which we are currently or have been subject relates to, among other things, our patent and intel-
lectual property rights, licensing arrangements with other persons, product liability and financing
activities. We cannot predict with certainty the eventual outcome of pending litigation, and we could
be required to incur substantial expense in defending these lawsuits. We have in the past taken sub-
stantial special charges relating to certain litigations, including special charges of $230.0 million in
1999.

We May Incur Material Product Liability Costs
The testing and marketing of medical products entail an inherent risk of product liability. We main-
tain limited product liability insurance coverage. Our business may be materially and adversely
affected by a successful product liability claim in excess of our insurance coverage. We cannot
assure you that product liability insurance coverage will continue to be available to us in the future
on reasonable terms or at all.

Our Products Are Subject to Governmental Regulations and Approvals
The pharmaceutical industry is subject to stringent regulation with respect to product safety and effi-
cacy by various federal, state and local authorities. Of particular significance are the FDA’s require-
ments covering research and development, testing, manufacturing, quality control, labeling and pro-
motion of drugs for human use. A pharmaceutical product cannot be marketed in the United States
until it has been approved by the FDA, and then can only be marketed for the indications and claims
approved by the FDA. As a result of these requirements, the length of time, the level of expendi-
tures and the laboratory and clinical information required for approval of a New Drug Application,
or NDA, or a Biologics License Application, or BLA, are substantial and can require a number of years.
We cannot be sure that we can obtain necessary regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all,

for any of the products we are developing, and all of the following could have a material adverse
effect on our business:

• significant delays in obtaining or failing to obtain required approvals;
• loss of or changes to previously obtained approvals; and 
• failing to comply with existing or future regulatory requirements.

Moreover, it is possible that the current regulatory framework could change or additional regu-
lations could arise at any stage during our product development, which may affect our ability to
obtain approval of our products.

A Variety of Factors Could Affect Our Liquidity
We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with funds provid-
ed by operations and leasing arrangements, will be sufficient to meet our foreseeable operating cash
requirements. In addition, we believe we could access additional funds from the debt and, under cer-
tain circumstances, capital markets. Factors that could negatively affect our cash position include, but
are not limited to, future levels of our product sales, royalty and contract revenues, expenses, in-
licensing activities, including the timing and amount of related development funding or milestone pay-
ments, acquisitions, capital expenditures and the amount of any stock repurchased under any stock
repurchase program. The affiliation agreement with Roche requires us to, among other things, estab-
lish a stock repurchase program designed to maintain Roche’s percentage ownership interest in our
Common Stock. While the dollar amounts associated with these future purchases cannot currently be
estimated, such stock repurchases could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity.

We Are Subject to a Tax Sharing Agreement with Roche,
and a Variety of Factors Could Affect Our Income Tax Rate
Since the redemption of our Special Common Stock, and until Roche completed its public offering
of our Common Stock in October 1999, we were included in Roche’s U.S. federal consolidated
income tax group. Accordingly, we entered into a tax sharing agreement with Roche. Pursuant to
the tax sharing agreement, we and Roche are to make payments such that the net amount paid
by us on account of consolidated or combined income taxes is determined as if we had filed sepa-
rate, stand-alone federal, state and local income tax returns as the common parent of an affiliated
group of corporations filing consolidated or combined federal, state and local returns.

Effective with the consummation of the second public offering on October 26, 1999, Genentech
ceased to be a member of the consolidated federal income tax group (and certain consolidated or
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combined state and local income tax groups) of which Roche is the common parent. Accordingly,
our tax sharing agreement with Roche now pertains only to the state and local tax returns in which
we will be consolidated or combined with Roche. We will continue to calculate our tax liability or
refund with Roche for these state and local jurisdictions as if we were a stand-alone entity.

Our effective tax rate increased in 1999 from 1998 as a result of nondeductible goodwill amor-
tization, a charge for in-process research and development and legal settlements. Beyond 1999,
the current effective tax rate will increase due to goodwill amortization. In addition, our effective
tax rate is dependent upon several other factors including, but not limited to, changes in tax laws
and rates, interpretation of existing tax laws, future levels of research and development spending,
the outcome of clinical trials of certain development products, our success in commercializing such
products, potential competition regarding the products and nondeductible items. 

We May Lose Revenue or Incur Significant Costs if Year 2000 Compliance
Issues Are Not Properly Addressed
We use and rely on a wide variety of information technologies, computer systems and scientific and
manufacturing equipment containing computer-related components (such as programmable logic
controllers and other embedded systems). Some of our older computer software programs and
equipment were unable to distinguish between the year 1900 and the year 2000, potentially caus-
ing those software programs and equipment to misinterpret dates after January 1, 2000. 

We have had a Year 2000 Project in place to address potential problems with our business 
critical systems and equipment resulting from this issue and, as of December 31, 1999, all phas-
es of this project were essentially complete. To date, we have not experienced any significant Year
2000 related problems.

It is possible that we may experience Year 2000 related problems in the future, particularly with
our nonbusiness critical systems, which may result in failures or miscalculations resulting in inaccu-
racies in computer output or disruptions of operations. However, we believe that the Year 2000
issue will not pose significant operational problems for our business critical computer systems and
equipment. 

The financial impact of future remediation activities that may become necessary, if any, cannot
be known precisely at this time, but it is not expected to be material.

We Are Exposed to Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk, including changes to interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
and equity investment prices. To reduce the volatility relating to these exposures, we enter into var-
ious derivative investment transactions pursuant to our investment and risk management policies

and procedures in areas such as hedging and counterparty exposure practices. We do not use deriv-
atives for speculative purposes.

We maintain risk management control systems to monitor the risks associated with interest
rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity investment price changes, and our derivative and
financial instrument positions. The risk management control systems use analytical techniques,
including sensitivity analysis and market values. Though we intend for our risk management con-
trol systems to be comprehensive, there are inherent risks that may only be partially offset by our
hedging programs should there be unfavorable movements in interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates or equity investment prices.

The estimated exposures discussed below are intended to measure the maximum amount we
could lose from adverse market movements in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and
equity investment prices, given a specified confidence level, over a given period of time. Loss is
defined in the value at risk estimation as fair market value loss. The exposures to interest rate, for-
eign currency exchange rate and equity investment price changes are calculated based on propri-
etary modeling techniques from a Monte Carlo simulation value-at-risk model using a 30-day hold-
ing period and a 95% confidence level. The value-at-risk model assumes nonlinear financial returns
and generates potential paths various market prices could take and tracks the hypothetical per-
formance of a portfolio under each scenario to approximate its financial return. The value-at-risk
model takes into account correlations and diversification across market factors, including interest
rates, foreign currencies and equity prices. Market volatilities and correlations are based on J.P.
Morgan Riskmetrics™ dataset as of December 31, 1999.

Our Interest Income Is Subject to Fluctuations in Interest Rates
Our interest income is sensitive to changes in the general level of interest rates, primarily U.S. inter-
est rates. In this regard, changes in U.S. interest rates affect the interest earned on our cash equiv-
alents, short-term investments, convertible preferred stock investments, convertible loans and long-
term investments. To mitigate the impact of fluctuations in U.S. interest rates, we may enter into
swap transactions, which involve the receipt of fixed rate interest and the payment of floating rate
interest without the exchange of the underlying principal.

Based on our overall interest rate exposure at December 31, 1999, and at December 31, 1998,
including derivative and other interest rate sensitive instruments, a near-term change in interest rates,
within a 95% confidence level based on historical interest rate movements would not materially
affect the fair value of interest rate sensitive instruments. 
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We Are Exposed to Risks Relating to Foreign Currency Exchange Rates
and Foreign Economic Conditions
We receive royalty revenues from licensees selling products in countries throughout the world. As a
result, our financial results could be significantly affected by factors such as changes in foreign curren-
cy exchange rates or weak economic conditions in the foreign markets in which our licensed products
are sold. We are exposed to changes in exchange rates in Europe, Asia (primarily Japan) and Canada.
Our exposure to foreign exchange rates primarily exists with the Euro. When the U.S. dollar strength-
ens against the currencies in these countries, the U.S. dollar value of non-U.S. dollar-based revenue
decreases; when the U.S. dollar weakens, the U.S. dollar value of the non-U.S. dollar-based revenues
increases. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. dollar,
may adversely affect our royalty revenues as expressed in U.S. dollars. In addition, as part of our over-
all investment strategy, a portion of our portfolio is primarily in nondollar denominated investments.
As a result, we are exposed to changes in the exchange rates of the countries in which these nondol-
lar denominated investments are made.

To mitigate this risk, we hedge certain of our anticipated revenues by purchasing option contracts
with expiration dates and amounts of currency that are based on 25% to 90% of probable future
revenues so that the potential adverse impact of movements in currency exchange rates on the non-
dollar denominated revenues will be at least partly offset by an associated increase in the value of
the option. Currently, the duration of these options is generally one to three years. We may also
enter into foreign currency forward contracts to lock in the dollar value of a portion of these antici-
pated revenues. To hedge the nondollar denominated investments in the portfolio, we enter into
forward contracts.

Based on our overall currency rate exposure at December 31, 1999, and at December 31,
1998, including derivative and other foreign currency sensitive instruments, a near-term change in
currency rates within a 95% confidence level based on historical currency rate movements would
not materially affect the fair value of foreign currency sensitive instruments. 

Our Investments in Equity Securities Are Subject to Market Risks
As part of our strategic alliance efforts, we invest in equity instruments of biotechnology companies.
These investments are subject to fluctuations from market value changes in stock prices. To miti-
gate this risk, certain equity securities are hedged with costless collars. A costless collar is a pur-
chased put option and a written call option in which the cost of the purchased put and the proceeds
of the written call offset each other; therefore, there is no initial cost or cash outflow for these instru-
ments at the time of purchase. The purchased put protects us from a decline in the market value

of the security below a certain minimum level (the put “strike” level); while the call effectively lim-
its our potential to benefit from an increase in the market value of the security above a certain max-
imum level (the call “strike” level). In addition, as part of our strategic alliance efforts, we hold
dividend-bearing convertible preferred stock and have made interest-bearing loans that are convert-
ible into the equity securities of the debtor.

Based on our overall exposure to fluctuations from market value changes in marketable equity
prices at December 31, 1999, a near-term change in equity prices within a 95% confidence level
based on historic volatilities could result in a potential loss in fair value of the equity securities port-
folio of $43.2 million. However, the change in 1999 has resulted in a material benefit to our con-
solidated financial statements. On December 31, 1998, we estimated that the potential loss in fair
value of the equity securities portfolio was $10.6 million.

New Accounting Standards Could Impact Our Financial Position
and Results of Operations
In July 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board announced the delay of the effective date
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 133, or FAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” for one year, to the first quarter of 2001.

FAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including cer-
tain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. It requires com-
panies to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure
those instruments at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values of those deriv-
atives would be accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for
hedge accounting under FAS 133. The impact of FAS 133 on our financial position and results of
operations is not expected to be material.

We Are Exposed to Credit Risk of Counterparties
We could be exposed to losses related to the financial instruments described above under “We Are
Exposed to Market Risk” should one of our counterparties default. We attempt to mitigate this risk
through credit monitoring procedures.

Financial Review (continued)

4646



Genentech, Inc. is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of its published finan-
cial statements. We have prepared the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. As such, the statements include amounts based on judgments and estimates
made by management. We also prepared the other information included in the Annual Report and
are responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent auditing firm Ernst & Young LLP,
which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all
meetings of stockholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board. We believe that all
representations made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate. Ernst
& Young LLP’s Audit Report is included in this Annual Report.

Systems of internal accounting controls, applied by operating and financial management, are
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements
and reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded from unauthorized use or
disposition, and that transactions are recorded according to management’s policies and procedures.
We continually review and modify these systems, where appropriate, to maintain such assurance.
Through our general audit activities, the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems and controls are
reviewed and the resultant findings are communicated to management and the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors.

The selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent auditors has been approved by our Board
of Directors and ratified by the stockholders. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is com-
posed of three nonmanagement directors who meet regularly with management, the independent
auditors and the general auditor, jointly and separately, to review the adequacy of internal account-
ing controls and auditing and financial reporting matters to ascertain that each is properly discharg-
ing its responsibilities.

Arthur D. Levinson, Ph.D. Louis J. Lavigne, Jr. John M. Whiting
Chairman and Executive Vice President Controller and
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Genentech, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Genentech, Inc. as of December
31, 1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999. These finan-
cial statements are the responsibility of Genentech, Inc.’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exam-
ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of Genentech, Inc. at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

San Jose, California
January 18, 2000

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent AuditorsReport of Management
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1999 1998 1997
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(thousands, except per share amounts) Year ended December 31

Revenues
Product sales (including amounts from related parties: 1999–$41,324; 1998–$28,738; 

1997–$17,396) $ 1,039,095 $ 717,795 $ 584,889
Royalties (including amounts from related parties: 1999–$42,528; 1998–$35,028; 

1997–$25,362) 189,270 229,589 241,112
Contract and other (including amounts from related parties: 1999–$17,170; 1998–$61,583; 

1997–$67,596) 103,579 114,795 121,587
Interest 89,434 88,764 69,160

Total revenues 1,421,378 1,150,943 1,016,748
Costs and expenses

Cost of sales (including amounts from related parties: 1999–$36,267; 1998–$23,155; 
1997–$14,348) 285,549 138,623 102,536

Research and development (including contract related: 1999–$18,366; 1998–$27,660; 
1997–$67,596) 367,338 396,186 470,923

Marketing, general and administrative 467,929 358,931 269,852
Special charges:

Related to redemption 1,207,700 — —
Legal settlements 230,008 — —

Recurring charges related to redemption 198,420 — —
Interest 5,360 4,552 3,642

Total costs and expenses 2,762,304 898,292 846,953
Income (loss) before taxes (1,340,926) 252,651 169,795
Income tax (benefit) provision (196,398) 70,742 40,751
Net income (loss) $ (1,144,528) $ 181,909 $ 129,044
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic $ (4.46) $ 0.72 $ 0.52
Diluted $ (4.46) $ 0.70 $ 0.51

Weighted average shares used to compute diluted earnings (loss) per share: 256,430 259,744 252,795

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
1999 1998 1997

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(thousands) Year ended December 31

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (1,144,528) $ 181,909 $ 129,044
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 281,360 78,101 65,533
In-process research and development 752,500 — —
Noncash compensation related to stock options, net of tax 119,153 — —
Deferred income taxes (144,295) 29,792 19,660
Gain on sales of and write-up of securities available-for-sale (39,712) (9,542) (13,203)
Loss on sales of securities available-for-sale 1,805 1,809 2,096
Write-down of nonmarketable securities 432 16,689 —
Write-down of securities available-for-sale 13,422 20,249 4,000
Loss on fixed asset dispositions 886 1,015 318

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Net cash flow from trading securities (10,159) 12,725 (109,132)
Receivables and other current assets (67,943) 33,767 11,194
Inventories 59,561 (32,600) (24,083)
Accounts payable, other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities 170,072 15,937 32,897

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities (7,446) 349,851 118,324
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of securities held-to-maturity (186,612) (327,690) (304,932)
Proceeds from maturities of securities held-to-maturity 286,497 410,729 455,317
Purchases of securities available-for-sale (595,068) (800,788) (512,727)
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale 627,063 430,936 410,395
Purchases of nonmarketable equity securities (52,958) (29,044) —
Capital expenditures (95,008) (88,088) (154,902)
Change in other assets (23,551) (17,151) (61,529)
Transfer to restricted cash included in other assets (56,600) — —
Net cash used in investing activities (96,237) (421,096) (168,378)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Stock issuances 160,203 107,938 87,259
Net cash provided by financing activities 160,203 107,938 87,259
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 56,520 36,693 37,205

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 281,162 244,469 207,264
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 337,682 $ 281,162 $ 244,469
Supplemental cash flow data:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest, net of portion capitalized $ 5,360 $ 4,552 $ 3,642
Income taxes 18,740 26,189 15,474

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1999 1998
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(dollars in thousands, except par value) December 31

Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 337,682 $ 281,162
Short-term investments 405,003 606,544
Accounts receivable – trade (net of allowances of: 1999–$15,767; 1998–$14,661) 120,497 79,411
Accounts receivable – other (net of allowances of: 1999–$3,184; 1998–$2,757) 61,054 47,480
Accounts receivable – related party 33,234 22,850
Inventories 275,245 148,626
Deferred tax assets 81,922 38,849
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11,870 17,036

Total current assets 1,326,507 1,241,958
Long-term marketable securities 1,214,757 716,888
Property, plant and equipment, net 730,086 700,249
Goodwill (net of accumulated amortization of: 1999–$690,887; 1998–none) 1,628,722 —
Other intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization of: 1999–$1,062,181; 1998–$28,614) 1,453,268 65,033
Other long-term assets 201,101 131,274
Total assets $ 6,554,441 $ 2,855,402
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 33,123 $ 40,895
Accrued liabilities – related party 14,960 10,945
Other accrued liabilities 436,044 239,487

Total current liabilities 484,127 291,327
Long-term debt 149,708 149,990
Deferred tax liabilities 626,466 43,782
Other long-term liabilities 11,335 26,458
Total liabilities 1,271,636 511,557
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.02 par value; authorized: 100,000,000 shares; none issued — —
Special Common Stock, $0.02 par value; outstanding: 1999–none; 1998–100,987,262 — 1,010
Common stock, $0.02 par value; authorized: 300,000,000 shares; outstanding:

1999–258,110,279; 1998–153,242,018 5,162 1,532
Additional paid-in capital 7,191,766 1,588,990
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (2,173,622) 693,050
Accumulated other comprehensive income 259,499 59,263

Total stockholders’ equity 5,282,805 2,343,845
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 6,554,441 $ 2,855,402

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands, except par value) December 31

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Retained Accumulated
Special Special Additional Earnings Other

Common Common Common Common Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive
Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Total

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(thousands)

Balance December 31, 1996 89,611 153,242 $ 1,792 $ 3,065 $ 1,360,156 $ 382,097 $ 53,949 $ 1,801,059
Comprehensive income:

Net income 129,044 129,044
Net unrealized (loss) on securities available-for-sale (117) (117)

Comprehensive income 128,927
Issuance of stock upon exercise of options 4,700 94 68,299 68,393
Issuance of stock under employee stock plan 902 18 18,848 18,866
Income tax benefits realized from employee stock option exercises 13,980 13,980

Balance December 31, 1997 95,213 153,242 $ 1,904 $ 3,065 $ 1,461,283 $ 511,141 $ 53,832 $ 2,031,225
Comprehensive income:

Net income 181,909 181,909
Net unrealized gain on securities available-for-sale 5,431 5,431

Comprehensive income 187,340
Issuance of stock upon exercise of options 4,920 98 86,786 86,884
Issuance of stock under employee stock plan 854 18 21,046 21,064
Income tax benefits realized from employee stock option exercises 17,332 17,332

Balance December 31, 1998 100,987 153,242 $ 2,020 $ 3,065 $ 1,586,447 $ 693,050 $ 59,263 $ 2,343,845
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net income (loss) (1,144,528) (1,144,528)
Net unrealized gain on securities available-for-sale 200,236 200,236

Comprehensive income (loss) (944,292)
Issuance of stock upon exercise of options 2,544 3,275 51 66 141,785 141,902
Issuance of stock under employee stock plan 507 238 10 4 18,629 18,643
Redemption of Special Common Stock and related issuance of Common Stock (104,038) 101,355 (2,081) 2,027 5,361,918 (1,722,144) 3,639,720
Income tax benefits realized from employee stock option exercises 82,987 82,987

Balance December 31, 1999 — 258,110 $ — $ 5,162 $ 7,191,766 $ (2,173,622) $ 259,499 $ 5,282,805

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In this Annual Report, “Genentech,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Genentech, Inc., “Common
Stock” refers to Genentech’s Common Stock, par value $0.02 per share, “Special Common Stock”
refers to Genentech’s callable putable common stock, par value $0.02 per share and “Redeemable
Common Stock” refers to Genentech’s redeemable common stock, par value $0.02 per share. In
addition, all numbers relating to the number of shares, price per share and per share amounts of
Common Stock, Special Common Stock and Redeemable Common Stock give effect to the two-for-
one split of our Common Stock on November 2, 1999.

Decription of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Genentech is a leading biotechnology company that uses human genetic information to discover,
develop, manufacture and market human pharmaceuticals for significant unmet medical needs.
Thirteen of the approved products of biotechnology stem from our science. Of these products, we
manufacture and market seven directly in the United States, and we are preparing to begin manu-
facturing and marketing the eighth.

On June 30, 1999, we redeemed all of our outstanding Special Common Stock held by stock-
holders other than Roche Holdings, Inc., commonly known as Roche, at a price of $41.25 per share
in cash with funds deposited by Roche for that purpose. We refer to this event as the “Redemption.”
As a result, Roche’s percentage ownership of our outstanding Common Stock increased from 65%
to 100%. Consequently, push-down accounting was required under U.S. generally accepted account-
ing principles to reflect in our financial statements the amounts paid for our stock in excess of our
net book value. See “Redemption of our Special Common Stock” note below for further discussion.

We receive royalties on sales of rituximab outside of the U.S. (excluding Japan), on sales of
Pulmozyme and Herceptin outside of the U.S. and on sales of certain of our products in Canada
from F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, a subsidiary of Roche, that is commonly known as Hoffmann-La
Roche. See “Relationship with Roche” note below for further discussion. 

We receive royalties on sales of growth hormone products and tissue-plasminogen activator out-
side of the U.S. and Canada, and on sales of rituximab in Japan through other licensees. We also
receive worldwide royalties on seven additional licensed products that are marketed by other com-
panies. Six of these products originated from our technology.

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Genentech and all subsidiaries. Material intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: We consider all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an orig-
inal maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Short-Term Investments and Long-Term Marketable Securities: We invest our excess cash bal-
ances in short-term and long-term marketable securities, primarily corporate notes, certificates of
deposit, treasury notes, asset-backed securities and municipal bonds. As part of our strategic alliance
efforts, we also invest in equity securities, dividend bearing convertible preferred stock and interest-
bearing convertible debt of other biotechnology companies. Marketable equity securities are
accounted for as available-for-sale investment securities as described below. Nonmarketable equity
securities and convertible debt are carried at cost. We had investments of $53.3 million at
December 31, 1999, and $55.8 million at December 31, 1998, in convertible debt of various
biotechnology companies.

Investment securities are classified into one of three categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-
sale, or trading. Securities are considered held-to-maturity when we have the positive intent and
ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortized cost,
including adjustments for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. Securities are con-
sidered trading when bought principally for the purpose of selling in the near term. These securities
are recorded as short-term investments and are carried at market value. Unrealized holding gains
and losses on trading securities are included in interest income. Securities not classified as held-to-
maturity or as trading are considered available-for-sale. These securities are recorded as either short-
term investments or long-term marketable securities and are carried at market value with unreal-
ized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity.
If a decline in fair value below cost is considered other than temporary, such securities are written
down to estimated fair value with a charge to marketing, general and administrative expenses. The
cost of all securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Long-Lived Assets: The carrying value of our long-lived assets is reviewed for impairment whenev-
er events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may not be recoverable. An impair-
ment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use
of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Long-lived assets include
property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets.

Property, Plant and Equipment: The costs of buildings and equipment are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets:

The costs of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Capitalized interest on con-
struction-in-progress is included in property, plant and equipment. The repairs and maintenance
expenses and capitalized interest were as follows (in millions):

Property, plant and equipment balances at December 31 are summarized below (in thousands):

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price and the fair value of the
net assets when accounted for by the purchase method of accounting. Goodwill is amortized on a
straight-line basis over 15 years.

Other Intangible Assets: Other intangible assets arising from Roche’s purchases of our Special
Common Stock and push-down accounting are amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging
from five to 15 years. Costs of patents and patent applications related to products and processes
of significant importance to us are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their esti-
mated useful lives of approximately 12 years. Other intangible assets are generally amortized on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Other Assets: Under certain lease agreements, we may be required from time to time to set aside
cash as collateral. At December 31, 1999, other assets included $56.6 million of restricted cash
related to such a lease agreement.

Contract Revenue: Contract revenue for R&D is recorded as earned based on the performance
requirements of the contract. Nonrefundable contract fees for which no further performance obliga-
tions exist are recognized when the payments are received or when collection is assured. In return
for contract payments, contract partners may receive certain marketing and manufacturing rights,
products for clinical use and testing, and/or R&D services.

1999 1998

At cost:
Land $ 89,983 $ 69,437
Buildings 380,236 378,133
Equipment 667,884 607,369
Leasehold improvements 4,655 3,565
Construction in progress 106,824 86,960

1,249,582 1,145,464
Less: accumulated depreciation 519,496 445,215

Net property, plant and equipment $ 730,086 $ 700,249

Useful Lives

Buildings 25 years
Certain manufacturing equipment 15 years
Other equipment 4 or 8 years
Leasehold improvements length of applicable lease

1999 1998 1997

Repairs and maintenance expenses $ 39.9 $ 35.9 $ 32.9
Capitalized interest 2.1 3.0 3.9
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Royalty Expenses: Royalty expenses directly related to product sales are classified in cost of sales.
Other royalty expenses, relating to royalty revenue, totaled $39.0 million in 1999, $38.3 million
in 1998 and $39.8 million in 1997 and are classified in marketing, general and administrative
expenses.

Advertising Expenses: We expense the costs of advertising, which also include promotional
expenses, as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, were $80.0 million in 1999, $47.7 million in 1998 and $41.8 million in 1997.

Income Taxes: We account for income taxes by the asset and liability approach for financial
accounting and reporting of income taxes.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted
average number of shares of our Common Stock and Special Common Stock outstanding. Diluted
earnings (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of our
Common Stock, Special Common Stock and other dilutive securities. See also “Earnings (Loss) Per
Share” note below. All numbers relating to the number of shares, price per share and per share
amounts of Common Stock, Special Common Stock and Redeemable Common Stock give effect to
the two-for-one split of our Common Stock on November 2, 1999.

Financial Instruments: As part of our overall portfolio, we use two external money managers to
manage our investment portfolios that are held for trading purposes and one external manager that
manages an available-for-sale portfolio. The investment portfolios consist entirely of debt securities.
When the money managers purchase securities denominated in a foreign currency, they enter into
foreign currency forward contracts, or forward contracts, which are recorded at fair value with the
related gain or loss recorded in interest income.

We purchase simple foreign currency put options, or options, with expiration dates and amounts
of currency that are based on a portion of probable nondollar revenues so that the potential adverse
impact of movements in currency exchange rates on the nondollar denominated revenues will be
at least partially offset by an associated increase in the value of the options. See “Financial
Instruments” note below for further information on these options. At the time the options are pur-
chased they have little or no intrinsic value. Realized and unrealized gains related to the options
are deferred until the designated hedged revenues are recorded. The associated costs, which are
deferred and classified as other current assets, are amortized over the term of the options and

recorded as a reduction of the hedged revenues. Realized gains, if any, are recorded in the income
statement with the related hedged revenues. Options are generally terminated, or offsetting con-
tracts are entered into, upon determination that purchased options no longer qualify as a hedge or
are determined to exceed probable anticipated net foreign revenues. The realized gains and losses
are recorded as a component of other revenues. For early termination of options that qualify as
hedges, the gain or loss on termination will be deferred through the original term of the option and
then recognized as a component of the hedged revenues. Changes in the fair value of hedging
instruments that qualify as a hedge are not recognized, and changes in the fair value of instruments
that do not qualify as a hedge would be recognized in other revenues.

We may also enter into forward contracts as hedging instruments. Forward contracts are record-
ed at fair value, and any gains and losses from these forward contracts are recorded in the income
statement with the related hedged revenues. Financial instruments, such as forward contracts, not
qualifying as hedges under generally accepted accounting principles are marked to market with
gains or losses recorded in other revenues if they occur.

Interest rate swaps may be used in the future to adjust the duration of the investment portfolio
in order to meet duration targets.

Our marketable equity securities portfolio consists primarily of investments in biotechnology com-
panies whose risk of market fluctuations is greater than the stock market in general. To manage a
portion of this risk, we occasionally enter into costless collar instruments to hedge equity securities
against changes in market value. See “Financial Instruments” note below for further discussion.
Gains and losses on these instruments are recorded as an adjustment to unrealized gains and loss-
es on marketable securities with a corresponding receivable or payable recorded in short-term or
long-term other assets or liabilities. Equity collar instruments that do not qualify for hedge account-
ing and early termination of these instruments with the sale of the underlying security would be rec-
ognized through earnings. For early termination of these instruments without the sale of the under-
lying security, the time value component would be recognized through earnings and the intrinsic
value component would adjust the cost basis of the underlying security.

401(k) Plan: Our 401(k) Plan, or the Plan, covers substantially all of our employees. Under the
Plan, eligible employees may contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation, subject to cer-
tain Internal Revenue Service restrictions. We match a portion of employee contributions, up to a
maximum of 4% of each employee’s eligible compensation. The match is effective December 31
of each year and is fully vested when made. We provided $8.5 million in 1999, $7.3 million in
1998 and $6.7 million in 1997, for our match under the Plan.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income is comprised of net income and other compre-
hensive income. Other comprehensive income includes certain changes in equity that are excluded
from net income. Specifically, unrealized holding gains and losses on our available-for-sale securi-
ties, which were reported separately in stockholders’ equity, are included in accumulated other com-
prehensive income. Comprehensive income for years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997
has been reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.

New Accounting Standards: In July 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board announced
the delay of the effective date of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 133, or FAS 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” for one year, to the first quarter of
2001. FAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, includ-
ing certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. It requires
companies to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and meas-
ure those instruments at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values of those
derivatives would be accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies
for hedge accounting under FAS 133. The impact of FAS 133 on our financial position and results
of operations is not expected to be material.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using a weight-
ed-average approach which approximates the first-in first-out method. Inventories in 1999 increased
from 1998 primarily due to the Redemption and push-down accounting, which is further discussed
below. As a result of push-down accounting, we recorded $186.2 million related to the write-up of
inventory, of which $93.4 million of expense was recognized through the sale of inventory in 1999.
The remaining $92.8 million of inventory that was written up is expected to be sold in 2000.
Inventories at December 31, 1999 and 1998 are summarized below (in thousands):

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to conform with
the current year presentation.

Basis of Presentation
Roche accounted for the Redemption as a purchase of a business. As a result, we were required to
push down the effect of the Redemption and Roche’s 1990 through 1997 purchases of our Common
and Special Common Stock into our consolidated financial statements at the date of the Redemption.
Under this method of accounting, our assets and liabilities, including other intangible assets, were
recorded at their fair values not to exceed the aggregate purchase price plus Roche’s transaction costs
at June 30, 1999. In 1990 and 1991 through 1997 Roche purchased 60% and 5%, respectively,
of the outstanding stock of Genentech. In June 1999, we redeemed all of our Special Common Stock
held by stockholders other than Roche resulting in Roche owning 100% of our Common Stock. The
push-down effect of Roche’s aggregate purchase price and the Redemption price in our consolidated
balance sheet as of June 30, 1999 was allocated based on Roche’s ownership percentages as if the
purchases occurred at the original purchase dates for the 1990 and 1991 through 1997 purchases,
and at June 30, 1999 for the Redemption. Management of Genentech determined the values of tan-
gible and intangible assets, including in-process research and development, used in allocating the pur-
chase prices. The aggregate purchase price for the acquisition of all of Genentech’s outstanding
shares, including Roche’s estimated transaction costs of $10.0 million, was $6,604.9 million, con-
sisting of approximately $2,843.5 million for the 1990 and 1991 through 1997 purchases and
approximately $3,761.4 million for the Redemption. 

The following table shows details of the excess of purchase price over net book value (in millions):

1999 1998

Raw materials and supplies $ 19,903 $ 21,414
Work in process 228,092 106,383
Finished goods 27,250 20,829

Total $ 275,245 $ 148,626

Purchase Period
1990–1997 1999 Total

Total purchase price $ 2,843.5 $ 3,761.4 $ 6,604.9
Less portion of net book value purchased 566.6 836.4 1,403.0

Excess of purchase price over net book value $ 2,276.9 $ 2,925.0 $ 5,201.9
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The following table shows the allocation of the excess of the purchase price over net book value
(in millions):

Push-Down Accounting Adjustments
The following is a description of accounting adjustments and related useful lives that reflect push-
down accounting in our financial statements. These adjustments were based on management’s esti-
mates of the value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired:

• We recorded charges of $1,207.7 million in 1999. These charges primarily include: a noncash
charge of $752.5 million for in-process research and development; $284.5 million of com-
pensation expense related to early cash settlement of certain employee stock options; and an
aggregate of approximately $160.1 million of noncash compensation expense in connection
with the modification and remeasurement, for accounting purposes, of continuing employee
stock options, which represents the difference between each applicable option exercise price
and the redemption price of the Special Common Stock. (You should read the “Capital Stock”
note below for further information on these charges.) In addition, we recorded an adjustment
of $20.3 million in other income related to the write-up of certain marketable securities as a
result of push-down accounting.

• We recorded an income tax benefit of $177.8 million related to the above early cash settlement

and noncash compensation related to certain employee stock options. The income tax benefit
reduced the current tax payable in other accrued liabilities by $56.9 million and reduced long-
term deferred income taxes by $120.9 million.

• The estimated useful life of the inventory adjustment to fair value resulting from the Redemption
is approximately one year based upon the expected time to sell inventories on hand at June 30,
1999. In 1999, we recognized $93.4 million of expense related to the inventory adjustment.
The entire inventory adjustment related to Roche’s 1990 through 1997 purchases was reflect-
ed as a charge to retained earnings. 

• An adjustment was made to record the fair value of land as a result of the Redemption. There
were no such adjustments for the purchase periods from 1990 through 1997.

• $1,091.2 million of goodwill, which reflects Roche’s 1990 through 1997 purchases, less relat-
ed accumulated amortization of $613.6 million through June 30, 1999, was recorded as a
charge to retained earnings. Included in goodwill was $456.8 million related to the recording of
deferred tax liabilities. Deferred taxes were recorded for the adjustment to fair value for other
intangible assets and inventories as a result of Roche’s 1990 through 1997 purchases. The
deferred tax liability was calculated based on a marginal tax rate of 40%. The goodwill related
to the 1990 through 1997 purchases was amortized over 15 years.

• $1,228.4 million of goodwill was recorded as a result of the Redemption. Included in goodwill
was $629.2 million related to the recording of deferred tax liabilities. Deferred taxes were
recorded for the adjustment to fair value for other intangible assets, inventories and land. The
deferred tax liability was calculated based on a marginal tax rate of 40% and was allocated
between short- and long-term classifications to match the asset classifications. The goodwill relat-
ed to the Redemption is being amortized over 15 years.

• In 1999, we recorded amortization expense of $77.3 million related to goodwill and $113.8
million related to other intangible assets.

• The existing deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $62.8 million related to the tax benefits
of stock option deductions which have been realized and credited to paid-in capital as a result of
establishing deferred tax liabilities under push-down accounting was eliminated at June 30, 1999.

• The redemption of our Special Common Stock and the issuance of new shares of Common Stock
to Roche resulted in substantially the same number of total shares outstanding as prior to the
Redemption.

• The excess of purchase price over net book value of $2,276.9 million for 1990 through 1997
and $2,925.0 million in 1999, and $160.1 million for the remeasurement of continuing
employee stock options at the remeasurement date were recorded in paid-in capital.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Purchase Period
1990–1997 1999 Total

Inventories $ 102.0 $ 186.2 $ 288.2
Land — 16.6 16.6
In-process research and development 500.5 752.5 1,253.0
Developed product technology 429.0 765.0 1,194.0
Core technology 240.5 203.0 443.5
Developed license technology 292.5 175.0 467.5
Trained and assembled workforce 32.5 49.0 81.5
Tradenames 39.0 105.0 144.0
Key distributor relationships 6.5 73.5 80.0
Goodwill 1,091.2 1,228.4 2,319.6
Deferred tax liability (456.8) (629.2) (1,086.0)

Total $ 2,276.9 $ 2,925.0 $ 5,201.9



• The following adjustments were made to retained earnings for the 1990 through 1997 purchase
period (in millions):

• The tax provision benefit of $196.4 million for 1999 consists of tax expense of $121.5 million
on pretax income excluding the income and deductions attributable to push-down accounting and
legal settlements, and tax benefits of $317.9 million for 1999 related to the income and deduc-
tions attributable to push-down accounting and legal settlements.

• $1,040.0 million of other intangible assets, which reflects Roche’s 1990 through 1997 pur-
chases, less related accumulated amortization of $911.5 million of those assets through June
30, 1999, was recorded as a charge to retained earnings. The components of other intangible
assets related to these purchases and their estimated lives are as follows (in millions):

• $1,370.5 million of other intangible assets was recorded as a result of the Redemption. The
components of other intangible assets related to the Redemption and their estimated lives are
as follows (in millions):

• $500.5 million and $752.5 million of in-process research and development were recorded as
a result of Roche’s 1990 through 1997 purchases and the Redemption, respectively. At the date
of each purchase, Genentech concluded that technological feasibility of the acquired in-process
technology was not established and that the in-process technology had no future alternative
uses. The amount related to the 1990 through 1997 purchases was charged to retained earn-
ings at June 30, 1999. The amount related to the Redemption was charged to operations at
June 30, 1999.

The amounts of in-process research and development were determined based on an analysis
using the risk-adjusted cash flows expected to be generated by the products that result from the
in-process projects. The analysis included forecasting future cash flows that were expected to
result from the progress made on each of the in-process projects prior to the purchase dates.
These cash flows were estimated by first forecasting, on a product-by-product basis, total revenues
expected from sales of the first generation of each in-process product. A portion of the gross in-
process product revenues was then removed to account for the contribution provided by any core
technology, which was considered to benefit the in-process products. The net in-process revenue
was then multiplied by the project’s estimated percentage of completion as of the purchase dates
to determine a forecast of net in-process research and development revenues attributable to proj-
ects completed prior to the purchase dates. Appropriate operating expenses, cash flow adjust-
ments and contributory asset returns were deducted from the forecast to establish a forecast of
net returns on the completed portion of the in-process technology. Finally, these net returns were

Fair Accumulated Estimated
Value Amortization Life

Developed product technology $ 429.0 $ 361.8 10
Core technology 240.5 202.9 10
Developed license technology 292.5 286.9 6
Trained and assembled workforce 32.5 31.6 7
Tradenames 39.0 21.9 15
Key distributor relationships 6.5 6.4 5

Total $  1,040.0 $ 911.5

Fair Estimated
Value Life

Developed product technology $ 765.0 10
Core technology 203.0 10
Developed license technology 175.0 6
Trained and assembled workforce 49.0 7
Tradenames 105.0 15
Key distributor relationships 73.5 5

Total $ 1,370.5

Purchase Period
1990–1997

In-process research and development $ (500.5)
Amortization of goodwill, intangibles and fair value

adjustment to inventories, net of tax (1,221.6)
Total adjustment to retained earnings $ (1,722.1)
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discounted to a present value at discount rates that incorporate both the weighted average cost
of capital (relative to the biotech industry and us) as well as the product specific risk associated
with the purchased in-process research and development products. The product specific risk fac-
tors included each phase of development, type of molecule under development, likelihood of
regulatory approval, manufacturing process capability, scientific rationale, preclinical safety and
efficacy data, target product profile and development plan. The discount rates ranged from 16%
to 19% for the 1999 valuation and 20% to 28% for the 1990 purchase valuation, all of which
represent a significant risk premium to our weighted average cost of capital.

The forecast data employed in the analysis were based on internal product level forecast infor-
mation maintained by our management in the ordinary course of managing the business. The
inputs used by us in analyzing in-process research and development were based on assumptions
that we believed to be reasonable but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These
assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and no assurance can be given that unanticipated
events and circumstances will not occur.

Our operations are treated as one operating segment as we report only profit and loss information
on an aggregate basis to our chief operating decision makers. Information about our product sales,
major customers and material foreign source of revenues is as follows (in millions):

Hoffmann-La Roche contributed approximately 7% of our total revenues in 1999, 11% in 1998
and 11% in 1997. See the “Related Party Transactions” note below for further information. Three
other major customers, Caremark, Inc., Bergen Brunswig and Cardinal Distribution, Inc., each con-
tributed 10% or more of our total revenues in at least one of the last three years. Although
Caremark, a national distributor, did not contribute over 10% of our total revenues in 1999, it
accounted for 10% in 1998 and 14% in 1997 of our total revenues. Caremark distributes prima-
rily our growth hormone products through its extensive branch network and is then reimbursed
through a variety of sources. Bergen Brunswig, a national wholesale distributor of all of our prod-
ucts, contributed 14% in 1999, 11% in 1998 and 10% in 1997 of our total revenues. Cardinal
Distribution, a national wholesale distributor of all our products, contributed 13% in 1999 and 11%
in 1998 of our total revenues, but it did not contribute over 10% of total revenues in 1997.

Net revenues from Europe were as follows: $133.6 million in 1999, $171.0 million in 1998
and $139.5 million in 1997.

We currently sell primarily to distributors and healthcare companies throughout the U.S., perform
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and extend credit generally without
collateral. In 1999, 1998 and 1997, we did not record any material additions to, or losses against,
our provision for doubtful accounts.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Product Sales 1999 1998 1997

Herceptin $ 188.4 $ 30.5 —
Rituxan 279.4 162.6 $ 5.5
Activase 236.0 213.0 260.7
Growth hormone (Protropin, 

Nutropin and Nutropin AQ) 221.2 214.0 223.6
Pulmozyme 111.4 93.8 91.6
Actimmune 2.7 3.9 3.5

Total product sales $ 1,039.1 $ 717.8 $ 584.9



To gain access to potential new products and technologies and to utilize other companies to help
develop our potential new products, we establish strategic alliances with various companies. These
strategic alliances include the acquisition of marketable and nonmarketable equity investments and
convertible debt of companies developing technologies that fall outside our research focus and
include companies having the potential to generate new products through technology exchanges
and investments. Potential future payments may be due to certain collaborative partners achieving
certain benchmarks as defined in the collaborative agreements. We also entered into product-spe-
cific collaborations to acquire development and marketing rights for products.

In December 1997, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Alteon Inc. to develop and
market pimagedine, an advanced glycosylation end-product formation inhibitor to treat kidney dis-
ease in diabetic patients, and invested $37.5 million in Alteon stock. In 1998, as a result of the
decline in Alteon’s stock value and the unsuccessful clinical trials with pimagedine, we wrote down
$24.2 million of our investment in Alteon. In 1999, due to the continued decline of Alteon’s stock
value and unsuccessful negotiations with Alteon, we wrote-off our remaining $10.8 million invest-
ment in Alteon.

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following amounts (in thousands):

Tax benefits of $83.0 million in 1999, $17.3 million in 1998, and $14.0 million in 1997 relat-
ed to employee stock options and stock purchase plans were credited to stockholders’ equity.

A reconciliation between our effective tax rate and the U.S. statutory rate follows:

1999 1998 1997

Current:
Federal $ (28,478) $ 39,945 $ 30,617
State (3,782) 1,004 432
Foreign — — 2

Total current (32,260) 40,949 31,051
Deferred:

Federal (136,021) 29,006 23,799
State (28,117) 787 (14,099)

Total deferred (164,138) 29,793 9,700
Total income tax provision (benefit) $ (196,398) $ 70,742 $ 40,751

1999 Amount Tax Rate
(thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Tax at U.S. statutory rate $ (469,324) 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Research credit (11,605) 0.8 (4.7) (11.4)
Tax benefit of certain realized gains
on securities available-for-sale (3,005) 0.2 (1.2) (3.8)

Foreign losses realized (2,727) 0.2 (4.2) —
State taxes (16,536) 1.2 3.0 2.3
Goodwill amortization 27,062 (2.0) — —
Legal settlements 12,250 (0.9) — —
In-process R&D 263,375 (19.6) — —
Other 4,112 (0.3) 0.1 1.9

Income tax provision (benefit) $ (196,398) 14.6% 28.0% 24.0%

Research and Development Arrangements Income Taxes
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The components of deferred taxes consist of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

Total tax credit carryforwards of $179.6 million expire in the years 2005 through 2010, except
for $43.0 million of alternative minimum tax credits which have no expiration date.

Federal net operating loss carryfowards of $107.4 million expire in 2019. State net operating
loss carryforwards of $80.6 million expire in 2004.

The valuation allowance decreased by $62.8 million in 1999 and increased by $14.3 million in
1998 and $12.7 million in 1997. All valuation allowance activity relates to the benefits of stock
option deductions which were credited to paid-in-capital when realized.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earn-
ings (loss) per share computations for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 (in
thousands).

Options to purchase 20,775,805 shares of our Common Stock ranging from $24.06 to $85.88
per share were outstanding during 1999, but were not included in the computation of diluted earn-
ings per share. Options to purchase 357,150 shares of our Special Common Stock ranging from
$35.25 to $35.57 per share and 207,400 shares of Special Common Stock at $29.50 per share
were outstanding during 1998 and 1997, respectively, but were not included in the computation
of diluted earnings per share. These options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market
price of the Common Stock and Special Common Stock and therefore, the effect would be anti-dilu-
tive. See “Capital Stock” note for information on option expiration dates.

During 1998 and 1997, we had convertible subordinated debentures which were convertible to
2,026,894 and 2,027,028 shares, respectively, of Special Common Stock, but were not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per share because they were anti-dilutive. As a result of the
Redemption, the convertible subordinated debentures are no longer convertible to Special Common
Stock. For additional information, you should read the “Long-Term Debt” note below.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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1999 1998 1997

Numerator:
Net (loss) income – numerator for basic

and diluted earnings (loss) per share: $  (1,144,528) $   181,909 $   129,044
Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings (loss)
per share – weighted-average shares 256,430 251,534 246,084

Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options — 8,210 6,711

Denominator for diluted earnings (loss)
per share – adjusted weighted-average
shares and assumed conversions 256,430 259,744 252,795

1999 1998

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation $ (85,036) $ (66,471)
Unrealized gain on securities

available-for-sale (181,233) (30,617)
Adjustment to fair value of inventories (38,272) —
Adjustment to fair value of intangibles (560,699) —
Other (16,893) (20,016)

Total deferred tax liabilities (882,133) (117,104)
Deferred tax assets:

Capitalized R&D costs 45,436 42,317
Federal credit carryforwards 111,711 86,725
Expenses not currently deductible 93,121 56,699
State credit carryforwards 44,109 30,632
Net operating losses 41,619 —
Other 1,593 4,992

Total deferred tax assets 337,589 221,365
Valuation allowance — (62,844)
Total net deferred tax assets 337,589 158,521

Total net deferred taxes $ (544,544) $ 41,417



Securities classified as trading, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at December 31, 1999 and
1998 are summarized below. Estimated fair value is based on quoted market prices for these or
similar investments.

Investment Securities
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Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 1999 Cost Gains Losses Value
(thousands)

Total Trading Securities
(carried at estimated fair value) $ 252,608 $ 101 $ (2,649) $ 250,060

Securities Available-for-Sale
(carried at estimated fair value):

Equity securities $ 97,818 $ 499,800 $ (17,780) $ 579,838
U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of other U.S.
government agencies maturing:

between 5–10 years 41,385 — (2,432) 38,953
Corporate debt securities maturing:

within 1 year 144,996 7 (165) 144,838
between 1–5 years 350,652 151 (5,623) 345,180
between 5–10 years 137,366 — (7,550) 129,816

Other debt securities maturing:
within 1 year 8,044 2,122 (61) 10,105
between 1–5 years 85,022 — (1,816) 83,206
between 5–10 years 39,342 — (1,578) 37,764

Total Available-for-Sale $ 904,625 $ 502,080 $ (37,005) $ 1,369,700

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 1998 Cost Gains Losses Value
(thousands)

Total Trading Securities
(carried at estimated fair value) $ 236,330 $ 3,817 $ (246) $ 239,901

Securities Available-for-Sale
(carried at estimated fair value):

Equity securities $ 42,024 $ 77,364 $ (1,042) $ 118,346
U.S. Treasury securities and

obligations of other U.S.
government agencies maturing:

between 5–10 years 31,294 1,812 (74) 33,032
Corporate debt securities maturing:

within 1 year 251,238 233 (515) 250,956
between 1–5 years 309,762 3,525 (934) 312,353
between 5–10 years 149,410 6,603 (472) 155,541

Other debt securities maturing:
between 1–5 years 77,848 201 (2,509) 75,540
between 5–10 years 21,789 287 — 22,076

Total Available-for-Sale $ 883,365 $ 90,025 $ (5,546) $ 967,844
Securities Held-to-Maturity

(carried at amortized cost):
Corporate debt securities maturing:

within 1 year $ 115,687 — $ (79) $ 115,608
Total Held-to-Maturity $ 115,687 — $ (79) $ 115,608



The carrying value of all investment securities held at December 31, 1999 and 1998 is sum-
marized below (in thousands):

In 1999, proceeds from the sales of available-for-sale securities totaled $627.1 million; gross real-
ized gains totaled $19.4 million and gross realized losses totaled $1.8 million. In 1998, proceeds
from the sales of available-for-sale securities totaled $431.0 million; gross realized gains totaled $9.5
million and gross realized losses totaled $1.8 million. We recorded charges of $13.4 million in 1999,
$20.2 million in 1998 and $4.0 million in 1997, to write down certain available-for-sale biotechnol-
ogy equity securities for which the decline in fair value below cost was other than temporary. 

Net change in unrealized holding gains (losses) on trading securities included in net income
totaled ($6.1) million in 1999, $7.4 million in 1998 and ($3.8) million in 1997.

The marketable debt securities we hold are issued by a diversified selection of corporate and finan-
cial institutions with strong credit ratings. Our investment policy limits the amount of credit expo-
sure with any one institution. Other than asset-backed securities, these debt securities are general-
ly not collateralized. We have not experienced any material losses due to credit impairment on our
investments in marketable debt securities in the years 1999, 1998 and 1997.

Financial Instruments

Foreign Currency Instruments: Certain of our revenues are earned outside of the U.S. Moreover,
our foreign currency denominated revenues exceed our foreign currency denominated expenses;
therefore, risk exists that net income may be impacted by changes in the exchange rates between

the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies. To hedge a portion of anticipated nondollar denominated net
revenues, we currently purchase options and may enter into forward contracts. At December 31,
1999, we hedged approximately 50% of probable net foreign revenues anticipated within 12
months and 25% of probable net foreign revenues through the year 2001. The notional amounts
of the options totaled $51.9 million at December 31, 1999, and $75.0 million at December 31,
1998. The notional amounts consisted of the following currencies:  Australian dollars, Euro, British
pounds, Canadian dollars, Japanese yen and Swedish krona. All option contracts mature within the
next three years. The fair value of the options was based on exchange rates and market conditions
at December 31, 1999 and 1998. No forward contracts were entered into in 1999 and 1998.

Credit exposure is limited to the unrealized gains on these contracts. All agreements are with a
diversified selection of institutions with strong credit ratings, which minimizes risk of loss due to
nonpayment from the counterparty. We have not experienced any material losses due to credit
impairment of our foreign currency instruments.

Interest Rate Swaps: Interest income is subject to fluctuations as interest rates change, primarily
U.S. interest rates. To manage this risk, we may enter into swaps as part of our overall strategy of
managing the duration of our investment portfolio. For each swap, we receive interest based on
fixed rates and pay interest to counterparties based on floating rates on a notional principal amount.
Our swap counterparties have strong credit ratings, which minimizes the risk of nonperformance on
the swaps. In 1999, as a result of eliminating the interest rate swap portfolio, we recognized a
$5.0 million gain, which was recorded in interest income. We have not experienced any material
losses due to credit impairment. At December 31, 1998, we had three swap contracts outstanding
with notional amounts totaling $150.0 million. Our credit exposure on swaps and the net carrying
amounts of swaps held at December 31, 1998, were not material. Net interest income from swaps
in 1998 was also immaterial.

Equity Collar Instruments: To hedge against fluctuations in the market value of a portion of the
marketable equity portfolio, we entered into costless collar instruments, a form of equity collar
instrument, that expire in 2000 and will require settlement in equity securities or cash. A costless
collar instrument is a purchased put option and a written call option on a specific equity security
such that the cost of the purchased put and the proceeds of the written call offset each other; there-
fore, there is no initial cost or cash outflow for these instruments. The fair values of the purchased
puts and the written calls were determined based on quoted market prices at year end. At December
31, 1999, the notional amount of the put options was $7.1 million and that of the call options
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Security 1999 1998

Trading securities $    250,060 $  239,901
Securities available-for-sale maturing within one year 154,943 250,956
Securities held-to-maturity maturing within one year — 115,687

Total short-term investments $    405,003 $  606,544
Securities available-for-sale maturing

between 1–10 years, including equity securities $ 1,214,757 $  716,888

Total long-term marketable securities $ 1,214,757 $  716,888



was $9.7 million. At December 31, 1998, the notional amount of the put options was $32.0
million and that of the call options was $46.0 million.

Financial Instruments Held for Trading Purposes: As part of our 1999 overall investment strate-
gy, we have contracted with two external money managers to manage part of our investment port-
folio. These portfolios at December 31, 1999, consisted of U.S. and nondollar denominated invest-
ments. To hedge the nondollar denominated investments, the money managers enter into forward
contracts. The notional amounts of the forward contracts at December 31, 1999 and 1998, were
$146.2 million and $211.6 million, respectively. The fair value at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
of the forward contracts, totaled $3.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The average fair value
during 1999 and 1998 totaled $2.5 million and ($0.9) million, respectively. Net realized and
unrealized trading gains (losses) on the portfolio totaled approximately ($2.5) million in 1999 and
$2.8 million in 1998 and are included in interest income. Counterparties have strong credit ratings,
which minimizes the risk of nonperformance from the counterparties.

Summary of Fair Values: The table below summarizes the carrying value and fair value at
December 31, 1999 and 1998, of our financial instruments. The fair value of the long-term debt
was estimated based on the quoted market price at year end (in thousands):

Other accrued liabilities at December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

Long-Term Debt

Our long-term debt consists of $149.7 million of convertible subordinated debentures, with interest
payable at 5%, due in 2002. As a result of the redemption of our Special Common Stock, upon
conversion, the holder receives, for each $74 in principal amount of debenture converted, $59.25
in cash, of which $18 will be reimbursed to us by Roche. Generally, we may redeem the deben-
tures until maturity.

1999 1998
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Financial Instrument Value Value Value Value

Assets:
Investment securities (including accrued 

interest and traded forward contracts) $ 1,619,760 $ 1,619,760 $ 1,323,432 $ 1,323,353
Convertible equity loans 53,295 53,295 55,800 55,800
Purchased foreign exchange put options 1,547 1,957 1,441 5,741
Outstanding interest rate swaps — — 5,742 167,535
Equity collars — — 563 558

Liabilities:
Long-term debt 149,708 148,938 149,990 148,000
Equity collars 33,499 33,602 5,420 12,158
Outstanding interest rate swaps — — 3,587 153,587

1999 1998

Accrued legal settlement $ 200,000 —
Accrued compensation 52,005 $ 47,057
Accrued royalties 37,692 23,392
Hedge payable 33,499 5,420
Accrued clinical and other studies 18,012 35,535
Accrued marketing and promotion costs 17,897 9,417
Taxes payable — 46,447
Other 76,939 72,219

Total other accrued liabilities $ 436,044 $ 239,487
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Leases: Future minimum lease payments under operating leases, net of sublease income, at
December 31, 1999 are as follows (in thousands):

We lease various real property under operating leases that generally require us to pay taxes,
insurance and maintenance. Rent expense was approximately $13.9 million in 1999, $12.7 mil-
lion in 1998 and $11.7 million in 1997. Sublease income was not material in any of the three
years presented.

Under several lease agreements, we have the option to purchase the properties at an amount
that does not constitute a bargain. Alternatively, we can cause the property to be sold to a third
party. We are contingently liable, under residual value guarantees, for approximately $459.0 mil-
lion. We are also required to maintain certain financial ratios and are limited to the amount of addi-
tional debt we can assume.

Commitments: In May 1999, we entered into a license and collaboration agreement with Aradigm
Corporation to develop an advanced pulmonary delivery system for our Pulmozyme product in the
U.S. As part of the agreement, we agreed to provide Aradigm a loan of up to $10.4 million for
development costs. As of December 31, 1999, Aradigm’s outstanding loan was $2.3 million.

We entered into a research collaboration agreement with CuraGen Corporation in November
1997, whereby we made a $5.0 million equity investment in CuraGen and agreed to provide a
convertible equity loan to CuraGen of up to $26.0 million. In October 1999, CuraGen exercised its
right to borrow $16.0 million. Simultaneously, with this draw-down, CuraGen repaid the loan by
issuing 977,636 shares of CuraGen stock valued at $16.37 per share at such issuance, or an
aggregate of $16.0 million. At December 31, 1999, there were no outstanding loans to CuraGen.

Also, in December 1997, we entered into a collaboration agreement with LeukoSite, Inc. to
develop and commercialize LeukoSite’s LDP-02, a humanized monoclonal antibody for the poten-
tial treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases. Under the terms of the agreement, we made a $4.0
million equity investment in LeukoSite and have agreed to provide a convertible equity loan for
approximately $15.0 million to fund Phase II development costs. Upon successful completion of

Phase II, if LeukoSite agrees to fund 25% of Phase III development costs, we have agreed to pro-
vide a second loan to LeukoSite for such funding. As of December 31, 1999, there were no out-
standing loans to LeukoSite.

In addition, we entered into research collaborations with companies whereby potential future
payments may be due to selective collaboration partners achieving certain benchmarks as defined
in the collaboration agreements. We may also, from time-to-time, lend additional funds to these
companies, subject to approval.

We are a limited partner in the Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P., which is referred to as the
Vector Fund. The General Partner is Vector Fund Management II, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liabili-
ty company. The purpose of the Vector Fund is to invest in biotech equity and equity-related secu-
rities. Under the terms of the Vector Fund agreement, we contribute to the capital of the Vector
Fund through installments in cash as called by the General Partner. Our total commitment to the
Vector Fund through September 2003 is $25.0 million, of which $12.9 million was contributed as
of December 31, 1999. The Vector Fund will terminate and be dissolved in September 2007.

Contingencies: We are a party to various legal proceedings, including patent infringement litigation
relating to our human growth hormone products and antibody products, licensing and contract dis-
putes, and other matters.

In 1990 and 1997, the Regents of the University of California, or UC, filed patent infringement law-
suits against Genentech, alleging that the manufacture, use and sale of our Protropin and Nutropin
human growth hormone products infringe a patent known as the “Goodman patent” that is owned
by UC. On November 19, 1999, we and UC announced a proposed settlement of those lawsuits,
and on or about December 17, 1999, the parties entered into a definitive written agreement on the
terms of the settlement. Under the terms of the settlement, Genentech agreed to pay UC $150 mil-
lion and agreed to make a contribution in the amount of $50 million toward construction of the first
biological sciences research building at the University of California, San Francisco Mission Bay cam-
pus, and Genentech and UC granted certain releases to one another and dismissed with prejudice the
1990 and 1997 patent infringement lawsuits and related appeals. Such amounts were included in
other accrued liabilities at December 31, 1999. The settlement resolves all outstanding litigation
between Genentech and UC relating to our growth hormone products. 
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2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 Thereafter Total

$33,090 31,873 28,493 27,497 24,611 23,830 $  169,394

Leases, Commitments and Contingencies



On May 28, 1999, Glaxo Wellcome Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us in the U.S.
District Court in Delaware. The suit asserts that we infringe four U.S. patents owned by Glaxo
Wellcome. Two of the patents relate to the use of specific kinds of monoclonal antibodies for the
treatment of human disease, including cancer. The other two patents asserted against us relate to
preparations of specific kinds of monoclonal antibodies which are made more stable and the meth-
ods by which such preparations are made. We have been served with the complaint. The complaint
fails to specify which of our products or methods of manufacture are allegedly infringing the four
patents at issue. However, we believe that the suit relates to the manufacture, use and sale of our
Herceptin and Rituxan antibody products. On July 19, 1999, we filed our answer to Glaxo
Wellcome’s complaint, and in our answer we also stated counterclaims against Glaxo Wellcome.
The judge has scheduled the trial of this suit to begin January 29, 2001. On or about January 10,
2000, Glaxo Wellcome filed a request with the Court to add additional patent infringement claims
to the suit under Glaxo Wellcome’s U.S. Patent No. 5,633,162. We intend to oppose that request;
the Court has not yet made a decision whether to grant Glaxo Wellcome’s request. 

We and the City of Hope Medical Center are parties to a 1976 agreement relating to work con-
ducted by two City of Hope employees, Arthur Riggs and Keiichi Itakura, and patents that resulted
from that work, which are referred to as the “Riggs/Itakura Patents.”  Since that time, Genentech
has entered into license agreements with various companies to make, use and sell the products cov-
ered by the Riggs/Itakura Patents. On August 13, 1999 the City of Hope filed a complaint against
us in the Superior Court in Los Angeles County, California alleging that we owe royalties to the City
of Hope in connection with these license agreements, as well as product license agreements that
involve the grant of licenses under the Riggs/Itakura Patents. The complaint states claims for
declaratory relief, breach of contract, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and
breach of fiduciary duty. On December 15, 1999, we filed our answer to the City of Hope’s com-
plaint. The judge has scheduled the trial of this suit to begin February 5, 2001.

On December 1, 1994, Genentech filed suit against Bio-Technology General Corporation, or BTG, in
the United States District Court in Delaware charging BTG with infringement of two Genentech
patents applicable to its human growth hormone product. On February 28, 1995, Genentech filed
an Amended Complaint against BTG alleging infringement of an additional Genentech patent. On
January 6, 1995, BTG filed suit against Genentech in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York seeking declaratory judgements that those patents and another

Genentech patent are invalid and not infringed by BTG. Genentech’s suit in Delaware was then trans-
ferred to New York and consolidated with BTG’s suit there.

At the time of filing its suit and thereafter, BTG alleged various antitrust, abuse of process, civil
rights, malicious prosecution, and unfair competition claims against Genentech. All of those claims
were dismissed by the District Court.

On August 10, 1995, the District Court issued a preliminary injunction which prohibited BTG,
pending the Court’s final determination of the action, from importing, making, using, selling, offer-
ing for sale or distributing in the United States BTG’s human growth hormone products except for
certain ongoing U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approved clinical trials. BTG filed an
appeal from the District Court’s issuance of the preliminary injunction to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On April 8, 1996, the Federal Circuit affirmed the preliminary injunc-
tion granted by the District Court. On May 20, 1996, the Federal Circuit denied BTG’s petition for
rehearing, and on October 7, 1996, the United States Supreme Court declined to review the case.

In 1999, the case was transferred to a different judge of the District Court for further proceed-
ings. A jury trial of BTG’s patent invalidity claim began on January 10, 2000. On January 18,
2000, the jury returned a verdict in Genentech’s favor on a certain factual issue underlying BTG’s
invalidity claim, but the judge nevertheless entered judgement in favor of BTG and lifted the pre-
liminary injunction that had been in effect against BTG since 1995. Genentech intends to prompt-
ly file a request with the Federal Circuit for the injunction to be reinstated pending appeal and for
an expedited appeal. In the event that the injunction is not reinstated or if Genentech’s appeal is
not successful, BTG could enter the United States market with its human growth hormone product.

Based upon the nature of the claims made and the information available to date to us and our coun-
sel through investigations and otherwise, we believe the outcome of these actions is not likely to
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, result of operations or cash flows. However,
were an unfavorable ruling to occur in any quarterly period, there exists the possibility of a materi-
al impact on the net income of that period.

In addition to the above, in April 1999, we agreed to pay $50 million to settle a federal investi-
gation relating to our past clinical, sales and marketing activities associated with human growth
hormone.
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On June 30, 1999, Roche exercised its option to cause us to redeem all of our Special Common
Stock held by stockholders, other than Roche, at $41.25 per share in cash with funds deposited by
Roche for such purpose and we retired all of the shares of Special Common Stock including those
held by Roche. As a result, Roche owned 100% of our outstanding Common Stock. On July 23,
1999, Roche completed a public offering of 44,000,000 shares of our Common Stock. On October
26, 1999, Roche completed a second public offering of 40,000,000 shares of our Common Stock.
Roche received the proceeds from both offerings. As a result, Roche’s percentage ownership of our
outstanding Common Stock was reduced to approximately 66.1% at December 31, 1999.

In July 1999, we entered into certain affiliation arrangements with Roche, amended our licens-
ing and marketing agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, an affiliate of Roche commonly
known as Hoffmann-La Roche, and entered into a tax sharing agreement with Roche.

Affiliation Arrangements
In July 1999, we amended our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and entered into an affilia-
tion agreement with Roche. As a result, our board changed to consist of two Roche directors, three
independent directors nominated by a nominating committee currently controlled by Roche, and one
Genentech employee. However, under the affiliation agreement, Roche has the right to obtain pro-
portional representation on our board at any time. Roche intends to continue to allow our current
management to conduct our business and operations as we have done in the past. However, we
cannot ensure that Roche will not implement a new business plan in the future.

Licensing Agreement
In 1995, we entered into a licensing and marketing agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche and its
affiliates granting it a 10-year option to license to use and sell products in non-U.S. markets. In July
1999, we amended that agreement, the major provisions of which include:

• extended Hoffmann-La Roche’s option until at least 2015; 
• Hoffmann-La Roche may exercise its option to license our products upon the occurrence of any

of the following: (1) our decision to file an Investigational New Drug exemption application, or
IND, for a product, (2) completion of a Phase II trial for a product or (3) if Hoffmann-La Roche
previously paid us a fee of $10 million to extend its option on a product, completion of a Phase
III trial for that product;

• we have agreed, in general, to manufacture for and supply to Hoffmann-La Roche its clinical
requirements of our products at cost, and its commercial requirements at cost plus a margin of
20%; however, Hoffmann-La Roche will have the right to manufacture our products under cer-
tain circumstances;

• Hoffmann-La Roche has agreed to pay, for each product for which Hoffmann-La Roche exercises
its option upon either a decision to file an IND with the FDA or completion of the Phase II trials,
a royalty of 12.5% on the first $100 million on its aggregate sales of that product and there-
after a royalty of 15% on its aggregate sales of that product in excess of $100 million until the
later in each country of the expiration of our last relevant patent or 25 years from the first com-
mercial introduction of that product; and

• Hoffmann-La Roche will pay, for each product for which Hoffmann-La Roche exercises its option
after completion of the Phase III trials, a royalty of 15% on its sales of that product until the
later in each country of the expiration of our relevant patent or 25 years from the first com-
mercial introduction of that product; however, $5 million of any option extension fee paid by
Hoffmann-La Roche will be credited against royalties payable to us in the first calendar year of
sales by Hoffmann-La Roche in which aggregate sales of that product exceed $100 million.
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Tax Sharing Agreement
Since the redemption of our Special Common Stock, and until Roche completed its public offering
of our Common Stock in October 1999, we were included in Roche’s U.S. federal consolidated
income tax group. Accordingly, we entered into a tax sharing agreement with Roche. Pursuant to
the tax sharing agreement, we and Roche are to make payments such that the net amount paid
by us on account of consolidated or combined income taxes is determined as if we had filed sepa-
rate, stand-alone federal, state and local income tax returns as the common parent of an affiliated
group of corporations filing consolidated or combined federal, state and local returns.

Effective with the consummation of the second public offering on October 26, 1999, Genentech
ceased to be a member of the consolidated federal income tax group (and certain consolidated or
combined state and local income tax groups) of which Roche is the common parent. Accordingly,
our tax sharing agreement with Roche now pertains only to the state and local tax returns in which
we will be consolidated or combined with Roche. We will continue to calculate our tax liability or
refund with Roche for these state and local jurisdictions as if we were a stand-alone entity.

Roche’s Right to Maintain Its Percentage Ownership Interest in Our Stock 
We expect from time to time to issue additional shares of common stock in connection with our
stock option and stock purchase plans, and we may issue additional shares for other purposes. The
affiliation agreement requires us to, among other things, establish a stock repurchase program
designed to maintain Roche’s percentage ownership interest in our common stock. In addition,
Roche will have a continuing option to buy stock from us at prevailing market prices to maintain its
percentage ownership interest. To ensure that, with respect to any issuance of common stock by
Genentech in the future, the percentage of Genentech common stock owned by Roche immediate-
ly after such issuance will be no lower than Roche’s lowest percentage ownership of Genentech com-
mon stock at any time after the offering of common stock occurring in July 1999 and prior to the
time of such issuance, except that Genentech may issue shares up to an amount that would cause
Roche’s lowest percentage ownership to be no more than 2% below the “Minimum Percentage.”
The Minimum Percentage equals the lowest number of shares of Genentech common stock owned
by Roche since the July 1999 offering (to be adjusted in the future for dispositions of shares of
Genentech common stock by Roche) divided by 254,597,176 (to be adjusted in the future for
stock splits or stock combinations), which is the number of shares of Genentech common stock out-
standing at the time of the July 1999 offering adjusted for the two-for-one split of Genentech com-
mon stock in November 1999. As long as Roche’s percentage ownership is greater than 50%, prior

to issuing any shares, Genentech must repurchase a sufficient number of shares of its common stock
to ensure that, immediately after its issuance of shares, Roche’s percentage ownership will be
greater than 50%. Genentech has also agreed, upon Roche’s request, to repurchase shares of its
common stock to increase Roche’s ownership to the Minimum Percentage. In addition, Roche has
a continuing option to buy stock from Genentech at prevailing market prices to maintain its per-
centage ownership interest. Roche’s percentage ownership interest at December 31, 1999 was
approximately 66.1%.

Related Party Transactions

We enter into transactions with Roche, Hoffmann-La Roche and its affiliates in the ordinary course
of business. We recorded nonrecurring contract revenues from Hoffmann-La Roche of $40.0 mil-
lion for Herceptin marketing rights outside of the U.S. in 1998 (see below). All other contract rev-
enue from Hoffmann-La Roche, including reimbursement for ongoing development expenses after
the option exercise date, totaled $17.2 million in 1999, $21.6 million in 1998 and $67.6 mil-
lion in 1997. All other revenue from Roche, Hoffmann-La Roche and their affiliates, principally roy-
alties and product sales, totaled $83.9 million in 1999, $63.8 million in 1998 and $42.8 mil-
lion in 1997.

In the second quarter of 1999, we entered into a license agreement with Immunex Corporation
that grants rights under our immunoadhesin patent portfolio to Immunex for its product Enbrel®

(etanercept) biologic response modifier. In exchange for a worldwide, co-exclusive license covering
fusion proteins such as Enbrel, Immunex paid us an initial nonrefundable license fee which was
recorded in contract revenues net of a portion paid to Roche pursuant to an agreement between
Roche and us.

In July 1998, we entered into an agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche to provide it with exclu-
sive marketing rights outside of the U.S. for Herceptin. Under the agreement, Hoffmann-La Roche
paid us $40.0 million and has agreed to pay us cash milestones tied to future product development
activities, to share equally global development costs up to a maximum of $40.0 million and to
make royalty payments on product sales. As of December 31, 1999, Hoffmann-La Roche paid an
additional $10.0 million toward global development costs.
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Common Stock and Special Common Stock: On June 30, 1999, we redeemed all of our out-
standing Special Common Stock held by stockholders other than Roche. Subsequently, in July and
October 1999, Roche consummated public offerings of our Common Stock. See “Redemption of
Our Special Common Stock” and “Relationship with Roche” notes above for a discussion of these
transactions. 

On November 2, 1999, we effected a two-for-one stock split of our Common Stock in the form
of a dividend of one share of Genentech Common Stock for each share held at the close of busi-
ness on October 29, 1999. Our stock began trading on a split-adjusted basis on November 3,
1999.

Stock Award Plans: In connection with the redemption of our Special Common Stock, the follow-
ing changes occurred with respect to our stock options that were outstanding as of June 30, 1999:

• Options for the purchase of approximately 13.6 million shares of Special Common Stock were
canceled in accordance with the terms of the applicable stock option plans, and the holders
received cash payments in the amount of $41.25 per share, less the exercise price;

• Options for the purchase of approximately 8.0 million shares of Special Common Stock were
converted into options to purchase a like number of shares of Common Stock at the same exer-
cise price; and

• Options for the purchase of approximately 9.8 million shares of Special Common Stock were
canceled, in accordance with the terms of our 1996 Stock Option/Stock Incentive Plan (the
“1996 Plan”). With certain exceptions, we granted new options for the purchase of 2.666
times the number of shares under the previous options with an exercise price of $48.50 per
share, which was the public offering price of the Common Stock. The number of shares that were
the subject of these new options, which were issued under our 1999 Stock Plan (the “1999
Plan”), was approximately 10.0 million. Alternative arrangements were provided for certain
holders of some of the unvested options under the 1996 Plan.

Of the approximately 8.0 million shares of converted options, options with respect to approxi-
mately 4.8 million shares were outstanding at December 31, 1999, all of which are currently exer-
cisable except for options with respect to approximately 356,000 shares. These outstanding
options are held by 1,850 employees; no nonemployee directors hold these options.

Our board of directors and Roche, then our sole stockholder, approved the 1999 Plan on July
16, 1999. Under the 1999 Plan, we granted new options to purchase approximately 13.0 million
shares (including the 10.0 million shares referred to above) of Common Stock to approximately
2,400 employees at an exercise price of $48.50 per share, with the grant of such options made
effective as of July 16, 1999. Of the options to purchase these 13.0 million shares, options to pur-
chase approximately 12.0 million shares were outstanding at December 31, 1999, of which
options to purchase approximately 1.3 million shares were exercisable.

In connection with these stock option transactions, we recorded:

• (1) cash compensation expense of approximately $284.5 million associated with the cash-out
of such stock options and (2) noncash compensation expense of approximately $160.1 million
associated with the remeasurement, for accounting purposes, of the converted options, which
noncash amount represents the difference between each applicable option exercise price and the
redemption price of the Special Common Stock; and

• Over a two-year period beginning July 1, 1999, an aggregate of approximately $27.4 million
of deferred cash compensation available to be earned by a limited number of employees who
elected the alternative arrangements described above. As of December 31, 1999, $7.3 million
of compensation expense has been recorded related to these alternative arrangements.

We have a stock option plan, adopted in 1999, which variously allows for the granting of non-
qualified stock options, stock awards and stock appreciation rights to employees, nonemployee
directors and consultants of Genentech. Incentive stock options may only be granted to employees
under this plan. Generally, nonqualified options have a maximum term of 10 years. Incentive
options have a maximum term of 10 years. In general, options vest in increments over four years
from the date of grant, although we may grant options with different vesting terms from time to
time. No stock appreciation rights have been granted to date. 

We adopted the 1991 Employee Stock Plan, or the 1991 Plan, on December 4, 1990, and amend-
ed it during 1993, 1995, 1997 and 1999. The 1991 Plan allows eligible employees to purchase
Common Stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the grant date
or the fair market value on the first business day of each calendar quarter. Purchases are limited to
15% of each employee’s eligible compensation. All full-time employees of Genentech are eligible to
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participate in the 1991 Plan. Of the 10.6 million shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance
under the 1991 Plan, 8,232,320 shares have been issued as of December 31, 1999. During 1999,
3,108 of the eligible employees participated in the 1991 Plan.

We have elected to continue to follow Accounting Principles Board (APB) 25 to account for employ-
ee stock options because the alternative fair value method of accounting prescribed by FAS 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” requires the use of option valuation models that were
not developed for use in valuing employee stock options. Under APB 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” no compensation expense is recognized because the exercise price of our
employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. 

The information regarding net income and earnings per share with FAS 123 has been determined
as if we had accounted for our employee stock options and employee stock plan under the fair value
method prescribed by FAS 123 and the earnings per share method under FAS 128. The resulting
effect on net income and earnings per share with FAS 123 disclosed is not likely to be representa-
tive of the effects on net income and earnings per share with FAS 123 in future years, due to sub-
sequent years including additional grants and years of vesting. The fair value of options was esti-
mated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weight-
ed average assumptions for 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 5.8%,
5.5% and 6.2%; dividend yields of 0%; volatility factors of the expected market price of our
Common Stock of 45.0%, 11.9% and 9.2%; and a weighted-average expected life of the option
of five years. 

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of
traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option val-
uation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price
volatility. Because our employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those
of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable single measure of the fair value of the employee stock options.

For purposes of disclosures with FAS 123, the estimated fair value of options is amortized to
expense over the options’ vesting period. Information with FAS 123 for the years ending December
31 follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

A summary of our stock option activity and related information is as follows: 69

1999 1998 1997

Net (loss) income – as reported $  (1,144.5) $  181,909 $  129,044
Net (loss) income – with FAS 123 (1,178.1) 140,995 111,441
Earnings (loss) per share – as reported:

Basic (4.46) 0.72 0.52
Diluted (4.46) 0.70 0.51

Earnings (loss) per share – with FAS 123:
Basic (4.63) 0.56 0.45
Diluted (4.63) 0.54 0.44

Weighted Average
Shares Price

Options outstanding at December 31, 1996 39,205,018 $  21.45

Grants 659,010 29.11
Exercises (4,887,392) 15.04
Cancellations (2,497,418) 26.18
Options outstanding at December 31, 1997 32,479,218 $  22.21

Grants 9,189,850 33.91
Exercises (4,921,814) 17.66
Cancellations (2,496,042) 27.32
Options outstanding at December 31, 1998 34,251,212 $  25.64

Grants 17,046,168 57.07
Exercises (5,819,189) 24.37
Cancellations (24,702,389) 26.06
Options outstanding at December 31, 1999 20,775,802 $  51.30



The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable
options:

Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, the weighted average fair value of options
granted was $27.32 in 1999, $8.62 in 1998 and $7.69 in 1997. Shares of Common Stock
available for future grants under all stock option plans were 7,917,941 at December 31, 1999.
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Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Years of Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price

$24.063 – $35.563 4,674,650 9.29 $  29.56 4,416,182 $  29.39
$40.000 – $48.500 12,117,860 9.63 48.44 1,262,218 48.47
$64.188 – $85.875 3,983,292 10.03 85.49 5,400 85.88

20,775,802 5,683,800



Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
(thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 311998 Quarter Ended

Total revenues $    304,301 $    313,930 $    268,012 $    264,700
Product sales 213,713 163,100 176,263 164,719
Gross margin from product sales 181,212 127,749 139,113 131,098
Net income 37,140 63,378 40,374 41,017
Earnings per share:(5)

Basic 0.15 0.25 0.16 0.16
Diluted 0.14 0.24 0.16 0.16

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
Actual Pro Forma(6) Actual Pro Forma(6) Actual Pro Forma(6) Actual Pro Forma(6)1999 Quarter Ended

Total revenues $    358,456 $    358,456 $    345,328 $    345,328 $    395,242(3) $    374,905(7) $    322,352 $    322,352
Product sales 268,703 268,703 266,968 266,968 269,355 269,355 234,069 234,069
Gross margin from product sales 174,308(1) 220,852 174,218(1) 221,032 216,674 216,674 188,346 188,346
Net income (loss) (172,906)(2) 48,099 (62,845)(2) 66,882 (923,192)(3) 73,221 14,415(4) 58,508
Earnings (loss) per share:(5)

Basic (0.67) 0.19 (0.25) 0.26 (3.59) 0.28 0.06 0.23
Diluted (0.67) 0.18 (0.25) 0.26 (3.59) 0.27 0.05 0.22
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(1) Reflects expense of $46.5 million in the fourth quarter and $46.8 million in the third quarter related to the sale of inventory that was written up to fair value as a result of the Redemption on June 30, 1999, and related push-down accounting.  (2) Primarily reflects the impact of the
Redemption and push-down accounting, including: the sale of inventory that was written up to fair value, see note (1) above; the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets of $95.6 million in both the third and fourth quarters; and $57.8 million for the remeasurement of the
value of continuing employee stock options in the third quarter. This also reflects the $180.0 million charge in the fourth quarter related to the legal settlement with the Regents of the University of California.  (3) Primarily reflects a $1,147.3 million special charge related to the Redemption
and push-down accounting. Included in this charge is $752.5 million for in-process research and development, $284.5 million for early cash settlement of certain employee stock options and $102.3 million for the remeasurement of the value of continuing employee stock options. In addi-
tion, we recorded an adjustment of $20.3 million in other income related to the write-up of certain marketable equity securities as a result of push-down accounting.  (4) Primarily reflects the legal settlement of $50.0 million with the Office of the U.S. Attorney for the Northern District of
California.  (5) Restated to reflect the two-for-one stock split in 1999.  (6) Pro Forma financial data exclude the impact of the Redemption and related push-down accounting and legal settlements, and their related tax effects. See also notes (1) through (4) above for more information on
these transactions.  (7) Includes initial license fee from Immunex Corporation for Enbrel® and from Schwarz Pharma AG for Nutropin AQ and Nutropin Depot sustained-release growth hormone. In addition, we received a milestone payment from F. Hoffmann-La Roche for Herceptin. 
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11-Year Financial Summary (Unaudited)
(millions, except per share and employee data)

Total revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,421.4 $ 1,401.0 $ 1,150.9 $ 1,016.7 $ 968.7
Product sales  . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,039.1 1,039.1 717.8 584.9 582.8

Royalties  . . . . . . . . . . . . 189.3 189.3 229.6 241.1 214.7
Contract & other  . . . . . . . . . . . . 103.6 83.2 114.8 121.6 107.0

Interest  . . . . . . . . . . . . 89.4 89.4 88.7 69.1 64.2
Total costs and expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,762.3 $ 1,032.8 $ 898.3 $ 846.9 $ 820.8

Cost of sales  . . . . . . . . . . . . 285.6 192.2 138.6 102.5 104.5
Research & development  . . . . . . . . . . . . 367.3 367.3 396.2 470.9 471.1

Marketing, general & administrative  . . . . . . . . . . . . 467.9 467.9 358.9 269.9 240.1
Special charges  . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,437.7(4) — — — —

Recurring charges related to redemption  . . . . . . . . . . . . 198.4(5) — — — —
Interest  . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.4 5.4 4.6 3.6 5.1

Income (loss) data . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Income (loss) before taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1,340.9) $ 368.2 $ 252.6 $ 169.8 $ 147.9
Income tax (benefit) provision  . . . . . . . . . . . . (196.4) 121.5 70.7 40.8 29.6

Net income (loss)  . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,144.5) 246.7 181.9 129.0 118.3
Tax rate  . . . . . . . . . . . . 15% 33% 28% 24% 20%

Earnings (loss) per share: Basic  . . . . . . . $ (4.46) $ 0.96 $ 0.72 $ 0.52 $ 0.49
Diluted  . . . . . . (4.46) 0.93 0.70 0.51 0.48

Selected balance sheet data . . . Cash, short-term investments & long-term marketable securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,957.4 — $ 1,604.6 $ 1,286.5 $ 1,159.1
Accounts receivable  . . . . . . . . . . . . 214.8 — 149.7 189.2 197.6

Inventories  . . . . . . . . . . . . 275.2 — 148.6 116.0 91.9
Property, plant & equipment, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . 730.1 — 700.2 683.3 586.2

Goodwill  . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,628.7 — — — —
Other intangible assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,453.3 — 65.0 54.7 40.1
Other long-term assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . 201.1 — 131.3 122.5 109.1

Total assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,554.4 — 2,855.4 2,507.6 2,226.4
Total current liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . 484.1 — 291.3 289.6 250.0

Long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . 149.7 — 150.0 150.0 150.0
Total liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,271.6 — 511.6 476.4 425.3

Total stockholders’ equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,282.8(7) — 2,343.8 2,031.2 1,801.1
Other data . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Depreciation and amortization expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 281.4 — $ 78.1 $ 65.5 $ 62.1

Capital expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . 95.0 — 88.1 154.9 141.8
Share information . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Shares used to compute EPS: Basic  . . . . . . . 256.4 256.4 251.6 246.1 241.2

Diluted  . . . . . . 256.4 264.7 259.7 252.8 247.9
Actual year-end  . . . . . . . . . . . . 258.1 258.1 254.2 248.5 242.9

Per share data  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Market price: High  . . . . . . . $ 45.00 — $ 39.88 $ 30.31 $ 27.69
$ 143.00***

Low . . . . . . . . $ 37.25 — $ 29.63 $ 26.63 $ 25.69
$ 48.50***

Book value  . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 20.47 — $ 9.22 $ 8.18 $ 7.42
Number of employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,883 — 3,389 3,242 3,071

1999
Actual Pro Forma(6) 1998 1997 1996
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1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989

We have paid no dividends.

The Financial Summary above reflects adoption of FAS 130
and 131 in 1998, FAS 128 and 129 in 1997, FAS 121 in
1996, FAS 115 in 1994 and FAS 109 in 1992.

All share and per share amounts reflect a two-for-one split in
1999.

*Special Common Stock began trading October 26, 1995. On
October 25, 1995, pursuant to the 1995 Agreement with
Roche, each share of our Common Stock not held by Roche or
its affiliates automatically converted to one share of Special
Common Stock.

**Redeemable Common Stock began trading September 10,
1990; prior to that date all shares were Common Stock.
Pursuant to the merger agreement with Roche, all sharehold-
ers as of effective date September 7, 1990, received for each
common share owned, $18 in cash from Roche and one share
of newly issued Redeemable Common Stock from Genentech.

***Common Stock began trading July 20, 1999; prior to that
date shares were Special Common Stock. On June 30, 1999,
we redeemed all of our outstanding Special Common Stock
held by stockholders other than Roche Holdings, Inc. Roche’s
percentage ownership of our outstanding equity increased
from 65% to 100%. On July 23, 1999 and October 26,
1999, Roche completed public offerings of our Common
Stock and its percentage ownership was 66.1% at December
31, 1999.

(1) Charges related to 1995 merger and the 1995 Agreement
with Roche ($21.0 million) and resignation of our former CEO
($4.0 million).

(2) Charges primarily related to 1990 Roche merger.

(3) Information was not available to restate these amounts pur-
suant to FAS 128. Reflect amounts previously reported adjust-
ed for the stock split in 1999.

(4) Charges related to 1999 Redemption ($1,207.7 million) and
legal settlements ($230.0 million).

(5) Primarily reflects amortization of other intangible assets and
goodwill related to the Redemption.

(6) Pro Forma excludes special charges related to the Redemption
and legal settlements, recurring charges related to the
Redemption, the impact of the sale of inventory that was writ-
ten up as a result of the Redemption, the adjustment to other
income related to the write-up of certain marketable securities
as a result of the Redemption, and their related tax effects.

(7) Reflects the impact of the Redemption and related push-down
accounting of $5,201.9 million of excess purchase price over
net book value, net of charges and accumulated amortization
of goodwill and other intangible assets.

$ 917.8 $ 795.4 $ 649.7 $ 544.3 $ 515.9 $ 476.1 $ 400.5
635.3 601.0 457.4 391.0 383.3 367.2 319.1
190.8 126.0 112.9 91.7 63.4 47.6 36.7

31.2 25.6 37.9 16.7 20.4 31.9 27.5
60.5 42.8 41.5 44.9 48.8 29.4 17.2

$ 745.6 $ 665.8 $ 590.8 $ 522.3 $ 469.8 $ 572.7 $ 352.9
97.9 95.8 70.5 66.8 68.4 68.3 60.6

363.0 314.3 299.4 278.6 221.3 173.1 156.9
251.7 248.6 214.4 172.5 175.3 158.1 127.9

25.0(1) — — — — 167.7(2) —
— — — — — — —
8.0 7.1 6.5 4.4 4.8 5.5 7.5

$ 172.2 $ 129.6 $ 58.9 $ 22.0 $ 46.1 $ (96.6) $ 47.6
25.8 5.2 — 1.1 1.8 1.5 3.6

146.4 124.4 58.9 20.9 44.3 (98.0) 44.0
15% 4% — 5% 4% — 8%

$ 0.62 $ 0.54 $ 0.26 $ 0.09 $ 0.20 — —(3)

0.60 0.52 0.25 0.09 0.20 (0.53)(3) 0.25(3)

$ 1,096.8 $ 920.9 $ 719.8 $ 646.9 $ 711.4 $ 691.3 $ 205.0
172.2 146.3 130.5 93.9 69.0 58.8 66.8

93.6 103.2 84.7 65.3 56.2 39.6 49.3
503.7 485.3 456.7 432.5 342.5 300.2 299.1

— — — — — — —
42.2 16.0 13.8 12.7 25.9 42.7 59.1
63.3 45.0 50.3 24.4 16.8 19.0 25.9

2,011.0 1,745.1 1,468.8 1,305.1 1,231.4 1,157.7 711.2
233.4 220.5 190.7 133.5 118.6 101.4 75.9
150.0 150.4 151.2 152.0 152.9 153.5 154.4
408.9 396.3 352.0 297.8 281.7 264.5 242.2

1,602.0 1,348.8 1,116.8 1,007.3 949.7 893.2 469.0
$ 58.4 $ 53.5 $ 44.0 $ 52.2 $ 46.9 $ 47.6 $ 44.6

70.2 82.8 87.5 126.0 71.3 36.0 37.2
236.5 232.0 227.8 223.9 222.1 — —
243.5 240.4 237.5 230.0 226.5 186.0(3) 172.0(3)

238.5 234.5 229.6 225.8 222.6 221.2 168.5
$ 26.50* $ 26.75 $ 25.25 $ 19.75 $ 18.13 $ 15.44 $ 11.69

$ 13.75**
$ 22.25* $ 20.88 $ 15.63 $ 12.94 $ 10.38 $ 10.06 $ 8.00

$ 10.88**
$ 6.72 $ 5.75 $ 4.86 $ 4.46 $ 4.27 $ 4.04 $ 2.78

2,842 2,738 2,510 2,331 2,202 1,923 1,790



Stock Exchange Listings

Our Common Stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “DNA” on
July 20, 1999. On June 30, 1999, we redeemed all of our outstanding Callable Putable Common
Stock, or Special Common Stock, held by stockholders other than Roche Holdings, Inc. Our Special
Common Stock had traded on the New York Stock Exchange and the Pacific Exchange under the
symbol GNE from October 26, 1995 through June 16, 1999. On October 25, 1995, our non-Roche
stockholders approved an agreement (the Agreement) with Roche Holdings, Inc. (Roche). Pursuant
to the Agreement, each share of our Common Stock not held by Roche or its affiliates automati-
cally converted to one share of Special Common Stock. From July 3, 1995 through October 25,
1995, our Common Stock was traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GNE.
After the close of business on June 30, 1995, each share of our Redeemable Common Stock auto-
matically converted to one share of Common Stock. The conversion was in accordance with the
terms of the Redeemable Common Stock put in place at the time of its issuance on September 7,
1990, when our merger with a wholly owned subsidiary of Roche was consummated. Our
Redeemable Common Stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GNE from
September 10, 1990 to June 30, 1995. Our Common Stock was traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol GNE from March 2, 1988, until September 7, 1990, and on the Pacific
Exchange under the symbol GNE from April 12, 1988, until September 7, 1990. Our Common
Stock was previously traded in the NASDAQ National Market System under the symbol GENE. No
dividends have been paid on the Common Stock, Special Common Stock or Redeemable Common
Stock. We currently intend to retain all future income for use in the operation of our business and,
therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. On November 2,
1999, we effected a two-for-one stock split of our Common Stock in the form of a dividend of one
share of Genentech Common Stock for each share held at the close of business on October 29,
1999. Our stock began trading on a split-adjusted basis on November 3, 1999.

As of December 31, 1999, there were approximately 717 stockholders of record of our Common
Stock.

Stock Trading Symbol: DNA Common Stockholders

Common Stock, Special Common Stock and
Redeemable Common Stock Information
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Stock Prices Common/Special Common Stock
1999 1998

High Low High Low

4th Quarter $ 143 $ 66 7/8 $ 39 7/8 $ 34 1/16
3rd Quarter 89 3/4 48 1/2 36 11/32 31 25/32
2nd Quarter 45 40 31/32 36 7/8 32 7/8
1st Quarter 44 15/32 37 1/4 36 1/4 29 5/8



Headquarters
Genentech, Inc. 
1 DNA Way
South San Francisco, California
94080-4990
(650) 225-1000
www.gene.com

Stock Listing
Genentech is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DNA. 

Transfer Agent
Communications concerning transfer requirements, lost certificates and change of address should be
directed to Genentech’s transfer agent:

EquiServe
Boston EquiServe Division
Stockholder Services
Post Office Box 8040
Boston, Massachusetts 02266-8040
Telephone: (781) 575-3400
Fax: (781) 828-8813
www.equiserve.com

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m. Pacific time on May 15, 2000, at
The Westin Hotel, 1 Old Bayshore Highway, Millbrae, California. Detailed information about the
meeting is contained in the Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement sent to each stockholder
of record as of March 17, 2000. 

Investor Relations
Genentech invites stockholders, security analysts, representatives of portfolio management firms
and other interested parties to contact:

Susan Bentley
Senior Director, Investor Relations
Genentech, Inc.
1 DNA Way
South San Francisco, California 94080-4990
(650) 225-1260 
e-mail: investor.relations@gene.com

Additional Information
If you need additional assistance or information regarding the company, or would like to
receive a free copy of Genentech’s Form 10-K and 10-Q reports filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, contact the Investor Relations Department at Genentech’s corporate
offices at (650) 225-1599 or send an e-mail message to investor.relations@gene.com. Or
direct requests for literature to Genentech’s literature request line at (800) 488-6519. You may
also visit Genentech’s site on the World Wide Web at www.gene.com. 

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
San Jose, California

Want to learn more about Genentech?
Visit us on the World Wide Web: www.gene.com

Interested in biology?
Visit Access Excellence®, the site for health and bioscience teachers and learners. Originally devel-
oped by Genentech, the site was donated in 1999 to the National Health Museum, a non-
profit organization founded by former U.S. Surgeon General C. Everett Koop as a national center
for health education: www.accessexcellence.org.
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Growth strengthened
by partnerships
Growth strengthened
by partnerships

Shannon Collis.  Big Sister, Ice-Skater, Nutropin Depot Patient.
Thirteen-year-old Shannon and her sister, Michaela, realize the value of a good
relationship and of sharing.  Shannon began therapy with Nutropin Depot in
1998 for her growth hormone deficiency as part of a clinical study.

A technology-sharing collaboration between Genentech and Alkermes, Inc. led to the
successful development and 1999 approval of Nutropin Depot, the first long-acting dosage
form of recombinant growth hormone for replacement therapy.  Nutropin Depot provides
the convenience of injections once or twice a month rather than daily. 

Shannon Collis.  Big Sister, Ice-Skater, Nutropin Depot Patient.
Thirteen-year-old Shannon and her sister, Michaela, realize the value of a good
relationship and of sharing.  Shannon began therapy with Nutropin Depot in
1998 for her growth hormone deficiency as part of a clinical study.

A technology-sharing collaboration between Genentech and Alkermes, Inc. led to the
successful development and 1999 approval of Nutropin Depot, the first long-acting dosage
form of recombinant growth hormone for replacement therapy.  Nutropin Depot provides
the convenience of injections once or twice a month rather than daily. 
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Powerful alliances maximize product development
and commercialization.

Genentech is immersed in a critical new stage in our develop-

ment — one that could help the company reap even greater

rewards from the work of the past two decades.  In the 1980s, we 

successfully validated our groundbreaking new technologies, and in 

the 1990s, we focused on developing a prolific pipeline of products.  

In the decade ahead, Genentech intends to continue pursuing another

important strategy — further leveraging our assets by forming new

alliances and strengthening existing partnerships in the areas of

research, development and commercialization.

Establishing and maintaining key strategic alliances is a crucial part

of building solid, sustainable commercial ventures in all therapeutic

areas.  There are three basic categories in which Genentech forms part-

nerships: product acquisition, technology acquisition and product devel-

opment.  Currently, we maintain more than 30 partnerships, including

10 that were initiated in 1999.

This year, the successful partnership between Genentech and

Alkermes, Inc. culminated in the approval of Nutropin Depot, a long-

acting growth hormone replacement therapy that utilizes Alkermes’

ProLease injectable sustained-release delivery system.  Positive results of

Phase III research performed in cooperation with Novartis Pharma AG

and Tanox, Inc. suggest that anti-IgE may be a promising new addition

to Genentech’s presence in respiratory medicine.  Agreements with

Schwarz Pharma AG and Sumitomo Pharmaceuticals Corporation broaden

our ability to make the benefits of growth hormone replacement therapies

available to appropriate patients all over the world.

In addition, Genentech and partner Aradigm Corporation have begun

a Phase IIa clinical trial of an advanced pulmonary delivery system that

will greatly simplify administration of Pulmozyme.  In collaboration

with XOMA Corporation, we have decided to continue clinical trials of

the anti-CD11a monoclonal antibody product in patients with psoriasis,

and to move the anti-CD11a development program forward into the area

of solid-organ transplant rejection.  And a very recent collaboration with

Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Inc. brings together Inspire’s novel inhaled

P2Y2 agonists and expertise in pulmonary hydration and clearance

mechanisms with Genentech’s experience in respiratory product 

development and commercialization.

4. Leverage Our Assets

Key strategic alliances for continued growth:  Abgenix, Inc. • Alkermes, Inc. • Aradigm Corporation • Aventis SA • Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH
Cambridge Antibody Technology Ltd. • Connetics Corporation • CuraGen Corporation • DAKO • IDEC Pharmaceuticals Corporation • Immunex Corporation

Incyte Pharmaceuticals, Inc. • Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Inc. • Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly LeukoSite, Inc.) • Novartis Pharma AG
Pharmacia & Upjohn, Inc. • Roche • Schwarz Pharma AG • Seattle Genetics, Inc. • Sumitomo Pharmaceuticals Corporation

Tanox, Inc. • VaxGen, Inc. • XOMA Corporation
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by experience

Innovation powered
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2. Further Our Discovery and Development of Innovative Products 

17

Discovery in Progress. Using highly advanced microarrays, Genentech scientists search for genes that are over-

expressed or that have a unique expression pattern, such as that seen in tumors.  Seen here in Dr. Victoria Smith’s lab

are Erin Heinemeyer, Keith Magni, Victoria, David Wieand, Celina Sanchez, Jennifer Burwick, and Edward Robbie. 

Discovery in Progress. Using highly advanced microarrays, Genentech scientists search for genes that are over-

expressed or that have a unique expression pattern, such as that seen in tumors.  Seen here in Dr. Victoria Smith’s lab

are Erin Heinemeyer, Keith Magni, Victoria, David Wieand, Celina Sanchez, Jennifer Burwick, and Edward Robbie. 
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Mapping the human genome is just the beginning.  Genentech

researchers are hard at work putting this knowledge to practical

use.  As an established presence in innovative biotech discovery and

development, and a successful business entity, Genentech possesses

the resources, perspective and experience to advance the potential of

gene discovery to the next step — drug discovery.

Genentech’s well-established and strategic research infrastructure pro-

vides an opportune environment for refining emerging technologies and

utilizing them to uncover important medical breakthroughs.  In this age

of “biology meets computer,” where biology is increasingly influenced

by information science, Genentech recognizes that it is still the people

behind the science and the computers who make things happen.  For

this reason, Genentech’s staff of talented research scientists is an invalu-

able resource in the race to develop important new gene-based therapies.

Genentech’s work with microarray technology to uncover complex

gene expression information is a prime example of how our research

expertise comes into play.  With this technology, thousands of genes are

placed on microscopic chips, or microarrays, for analysis.  Scientists at

Genentech have developed microarrays with enhanced sensitivity,

enabling them to analyze Genentech’s proprietary genes — with the

ultimate goal of identifying those genes with therapeutic potential.  

In the study of cancer and other diseases, microarrays enable these

researchers to analyze a large number of genes from a single sample.

Genentech has successfully refined microarray technology to work

with extremely small sample sizes — something that is crucial when

analyzing sample tissues from patients in the earliest stages of disease.

While current work with microarrays at Genentech is focused primarily

on tumor research, this technology may have broad future applications.

It is also being used in preliminary studies of biological processes such

as angiogenesis and wound healing and related diseases.

The ability of any research organization to generate new product

opportunities to fuel growth is critical.  Genentech rose to the leading

edge of technology and discovery by looking for answers in new and

different places and coming up with unique solutions. 

The future of genomics belongs to those
who can best execute.
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Leading the world in the manufacture
of complex biopharmaceuticals.

Leading the world in the manufacture
of complex biopharmaceuticals.

Making Medicines. Built to meet the increasing demand for Genentech’s marketed products, our Vacaville, California manufacturing complex
spans approximately 300,000 square feet — making it the largest biotechnology manufacturing facility of its type in the world.  While awaiting
FDA licensure, which is expected by mid-2000, the plant is building its product inventory of Herceptin monoclonal antibody.

Unparalleled process and production output are the hallmarks

of Genentech’s state-of-the-art manufacturing capabilities.  Our

manufacturing personnel pride themselves on the fact that no patient has

ever gone untreated due to a shortage, recall or production slowdown of

our marketed products.  In addition to meeting marketplace demand for

our products, we have also shared our process technology with certain key

strategic partners in order to help satisfy market needs.

Through a variety of proprietary fermentation and purification

processes, all under stringent quality control, Genentech manufactured

more than 300 kilograms of biopharmaceutical proteins in 1999, success-

fully meeting both clinical research and market needs.  Genentech was

the first biotech company to successfully scale up protein manufacturing

from small quantities used for research to the larger quantities 

necessary to supply clinical trials and patient care.

At Genentech’s South San Francisco manufacturing facility, a new

second filling line essentially doubled the facility’s filling capacity

in 1999, allowing for a substantially higher level of throughput for

liquid products.  Genentech’s new Vacaville manufacturing plant, the

largest multi-product biotechnology manufacturing facility in the

world, became operational in 1999 with FDA licensure anticipated by

mid-2000.  As new Genentech products reach the commercialization

stage, both the Vacaville and South San Francisco facilities plan to be

ready to make these products for all patients who need them.
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Phase I

AMD Fab
Age-Related Macular Degeneration

Anti-CD11a Antibody (hu1124)*
Solid-Organ Transplant Rejection

Apo2L/TRAIL*
Cancer

*Currently preparing for Phase I clinical trial.

A productive pipeline leads to new opportunitiesA productive pipeline leads to new opportunities

Phase I I

Anti-CD18 Antibody
Acute Myocardial Infarction

Herceptin Antibody
Other Tumors

INS365**
Chronic Bronchitis

LDP-02
Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

Pulmozyme AERx Delivery System
Cystic Fibrosis 

TNKase
As Combination Therapy with IIb/IIIa Inhibitor
for Acute Myocardial Infarction

**Currently preparing for Phase II clinical trial.
Jay Kanemoto.  Golfer, Car Buff, Heart Attack Survivor.
When he experienced his second acute myocardial infarction (heart attack) in 1998 at age 50, 
Jay received treatment in the Phase III ASSENT II trial, evaluating Genentech’s second-generation 
thrombolytic, TNKase.  A Biologics License Application for TNKase is currently awaiting FDA approval. 

Jay Kanemoto.  Golfer, Car Buff, Heart Attack Survivor.
When he experienced his second acute myocardial infarction (heart attack) in 1998 at age 50, 
Jay received treatment in the Phase III ASSENT II trial, evaluating Genentech’s second-generation 
thrombolytic, TNKase.  A Biologics License Application for TNKase is currently awaiting FDA approval. 
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Phase I I I

Activase
Catheter Clearance

Anti-CD11a Antibody (hu1124)
Psoriasis

Anti-VEGF Antibody†

Colorectal and Lung Cancer

Herceptin Antibody†

Adjuvant Therapy for Breast Cancer

Pulmozyme††

Early-Stage Cystic Fibrosis

Rituxan Antibody
Intermediate- and High-Grade
Non-Hodgkin’s Lymphoma

Thrombopoietin
Thrombocytopenia Related to Cancer
Treatment

†Currently preparing for Phase III clinical trial.
††Patient enrollment completed.

Preparing for Regulatory Filing

Anti-IgE Antibody
Allergic Asthma
Seasonal Allergic Rhinitis

Awaiting FDA Approval

TNKase
Acute Myocardial Infarction

Genentech’s current development pipeline of 18 projects is both broad and deep. With

three products in Phase I investigation, six in Phase II, seven in Phase III, and one each

preparing for regulatory filing and awaiting regulatory approval, our pipeline has never

had more potential.  During 1999, we saw significant progress in all of our therapeutic

areas of focus — BioOncology, Cardiovascular and the Opportunistic area — and we’ve

seen numerous projects successfully advance from one stage of development to the next.

Genentech’s current development pipeline of 18 projects is both broad and deep. With

three products in Phase I investigation, six in Phase II, seven in Phase III, and one each

preparing for regulatory filing and awaiting regulatory approval, our pipeline has never

had more potential.  During 1999, we saw significant progress in all of our therapeutic

areas of focus — BioOncology, Cardiovascular and the Opportunistic area — and we’ve

seen numerous projects successfully advance from one stage of development to the next.

Anti-CD11a developed with XOMA Corporation; Apo2L/TRAIL developed with Immunex Corporation; INS365 developed with Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; LDP-02
developed with Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly LeukoSite, Inc.); Pulmozyme AERx delivery system developed with Aradigm Corporation; TNKase in
combination with IIb/IIIa inhibitor study being conducted with COR Therapeutics, Inc. and Schering-Plough Corporation; Rituxan antibody developed with IDEC
Pharmaceuticals Corporation in the United States; exclusive worldwide rights for thrombopoietin belong to Pharmacia & Upjohn, Inc. (P&U); anti-IgE antibody
developed with Novartis Pharma AG and Tanox, Inc.

and revolutionary therapies.and revolutionary therapies.



Arthur D. Levinson, Ph.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Dear stockholderDear stockholder
1999 was a year of many successes for Genentech. Of course, our

ultimate “measure of success” is our ability to deliver results that enable us

to positively impact the lives of patients.  Last year, Genentech delivered

novel medicines for thousands of patients, positive data in studies of new

therapies, important strategic alliances, investment in our unique employee

culture and increased value to you, our stockholders.

We entered 2000 in a position of strength and well prepared to deliver

growth into the next millennium.  Our Long-Range Plan continues to

serve as a guide for and measure of our ongoing progress.  Looking to

the future, we will build on our strengths and focus on delivering growth

and improving profitability — the means to our ultimate goal of accelerating

our ability to provide important new therapies for patients in need.

March 13,  2000

2



In 1999, we produced the highest annual earnings and product sales

in our company’s history, with total revenues for the year reaching

$1.40 billion — a 22% increase over 1998 revenues.1 Our prime produc-

tivity measure of net income as a percent of revenues was 18% for 1999,

up from 16% in 1998 and on track to meet our goal of 25% of revenues

reaching the bottom line by 2005.  Earnings-per-share growth in 1999

increased nearly 33% over 1998, in line with our goal for 2005 of an

average 25%-per-year earnings-per-share growth.  Also, for the first time,

product sales in 1999 exceeded $1 billion, a 45% increase over 1998

sales.  A strong commercialization effort throughout the year drove this

impressive sales growth, primarily through our BioOncology products,

Herceptin and Rituxan.  Of particular note, in 1999, Herceptin achieved

the highest first-year sales of any anti-cancer product in the United

States, surpassing the benchmark set by Rituxan the previous year. 

An important investor-oriented event of 1999 occurred in June, when

Roche exercised its option to cause Genentech to redeem all of its out-

standing Special Common Stock not owned by Roche.  In July, 44 million

shares of Genentech Common Stock under the new trading symbol

“DNA” were offered by Roche in the largest initial public offering of its

kind in U.S. healthcare industry history.  This was followed in October

by a secondary public offering by Roche of an additional 40 million

shares, at that time the largest secondary offering in U.S. history, and

in November, a two-for-one stock split.2

Our product pipeline is broad, deep and diverse.  With 18 active 

projects, we are involved in more clinical trials now than at any other

point in our history.  With the approval of Nutropin Depot in December

of 1999, Genentech has produced an important product approval in

each of the past three years.  In the near term, we are awaiting review

of a Biologics License Application for our new thrombolytic agent,

TNKase, for acute myocardial infarction.  And we are preparing for

regulatory review of the anti-IgE antibody, E25, which is being developed

in partnership with Novartis Pharma AG and Tanox, Inc., for allergic

asthma and seasonal allergic rhinitis.

In October of 1999, we added two new development projects to our

pipeline — Apo2L/TRAIL for solid tumors, which is being co-developed with

Immunex Corporation, and anti-CD11a for solid-organ transplant rejection,

which is being co-developed with XOMA Corporation.  Our strong research

organization has continued to fuel our development pipeline, and beginning

in 2000, our goal is to move four projects into development each year.  

We continue to lead the world in the manufacture of complex biotech-

nology products.  Our new Vacaville facility, the largest multi-product

biotech manufacturing facility in the world, became operational in 1999,

with licensure anticipated by mid-2000.  And a second filling line at our

South San Francisco manufacturing facility nearly doubled the filling

capacity at that location.
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In 1999, for the first time in our company’s

history, product sales exceeded $1 billion,

a 45% increase over 1998 sales.



As always, our employees are the architects and implementers of

our success, and we are privileged to have an experienced and energetic

group of leaders as officers of the company (shown below).  We are

proud that our commitment to invest in our people has been once again

recognized by both Fortune and Working Mother magazines, which

included us in their lists of top 100 companies to work for in America. 

Partnerships and alliances are becoming increasingly crucial to our

development and commercialization success.  In 1999, we announced

10 new strategic alliances and reported progress on collaborative projects

with our existing partners.

I am pleased to report that during 1999 two longstanding legal

issues were resolved: we reached a settlement agreement with the

U.S. Department of Justice regarding our promotion of human growth

hormone in the late 1980s and early 1990s; and we settled patent

infringement lawsuits brought by the University of California relating

to our growth hormone products.  With both of these matters behind

us, we can continue to focus on our important work of meeting the

needs of patients and building stockholder value.

The strength of our science and our investment in research and develop-

ment have resulted in a number of products poised for commercialization.

In the next three to five years, we could experience the greatest period

of new product introductions in our history.  This is both an opportunity

and a challenge.  We will look to maximize the profitability of our base

business — our existing marketed products in oncology, cardiology and

4

Genentech’s Officer Group

Stephen Di l ly, Sean Johnston, Cynthia Ladd, David Ebersman, Dan Sulzbach, Diane Parks, John Whit ing, Steve Juelsgaard, Ar t Levinson, Sue Hel lmann, Lou Lavigne,
Dennis Henner, J im Panek, Judy Heyboer, Walter Moore, Laura Leber, Joe Barta, Nick Simon, Kim Popovits, Joffre Baker, Rob Arathoon, Rob Garnick (not shown: Paula Jardieu).



the opportunistic area — focusing on our strategic advantage in oncology

as our primary growth area.  The successes of Herceptin and Rituxan

place us on the leading edge of antibody-based cancer therapeutics —

from research through development through commercialization. 

As we advance into the 21st century and our next phase of growth,

our opportunities are greater than ever.  We have the fundamentals of

excellent science, pipeline, products and people in place with the poten-

tial to continue to deliver strong top- and bottom-line results, produce

innovative cutting-edge work and create exciting opportunities for indi-

vidual progress.  Moving forward, we have refined our goals for 2005,

which were described in last year’s annual report.  We are focusing on

increasingly profitable growth and, as such, have replaced the absolute

revenue goal of $5 billion with a more appropriate new growth-oriented

measure — an earnings-per-share growth-rate goal of 25% on average

through the year 2005.  This is ambitious, but is, I believe, a rate consistent

with the performance of a successful growth company, one with the

potential to generate strong returns for stockholders.  The remaining

2005 goals are: to achieve our prime productivity goal of 25% net

income as a percent of revenues; to gain the approval of five new products

or indications; to move five significant products into late-stage clinical

trials; and to generate $500 million in new revenues from strategic

alliances or acquisitions.3

As you look through the following pages, it is my hope that you will

not only get a sense of what Genentech accomplished in the year 1999,

but also of who we are, why we do what we do and why we will go on

doing it.  “Our measure of success” is multi-dimensional: it is measured

through the lives of patients, powered by experience, fueled by passion,

strengthened by strategic partnerships and, ultimately, delivered in

results.  I thank you, our stockholders, for the ongoing support that

enables us to continue on our mission and to remain in business for life.

Sincerely,

Arthur D. Levinson, Ph.D.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

1.  Excludes special charges related to the redemption of Genentech’s Special Common Stock on June 30, 1999, legal settlements, recurring charges related to the redemption, and their related tax effects. 2. All information in this annual report relating to the shares, price per
share and per share amounts of Genentech Common Stock and Special Common Stock gives effect to the two-for-one split of Genentech Common Stock on November 2, 1999.  3. These 2005 goals are forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties, and actual
results may differ materially.  For a discussion of risk factors that may affect future earnings, including future earnings from strategic alliances and acquisitions, see “Forward-Looking Information and Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results—Our Operating Results May
Fluctuate,”  “—We Face Growing and New Competition,” “— Other Competitive Factors Could Affect Our Product Sales,” “—In Connection with the Redemption of Our Special Common Stock We Recorded Substantial Goodwill and Other Intangibles, the Amortization of Which
Will Adversely Affect Our Earnings,” “—Our Royalty and Contract Revenues Could Decline,” “—We May Lose Revenue or Incur Significant Costs if Year 2000 Compliance Issues Are Not Properly Addressed,” “—We Are Exposed to Market Risk,” “—Our Interest Income Is
Subject to Fluctuations in Interest Rates,” “—We Are Exposed to Risks Relating to Foreign Currency Exchange Rates and Foreign Economic Conditions,” “—New Accounting Standards Could Impact Our Financial Position and Results of Operations,” and the risk factors referenced
below that could affect the development and approval of products, on pages 41–46.  For a discussion of risk factors that may affect future net income as a percent of revenues, see the foregoing risk factors plus “—We May Incur Material Litigation Costs,” “—We May Incur
Material Product Liability Costs,” “—A Variety of Factors Could Affect Our Liquidity,” “—We Are Subject to a Tax-Sharing Agreement with Roche, and a Variety of Factors Could Affect Our Income Tax Rate,” and “—We Are Exposed to Credit Risk of Counterparties” on pages
44–46.  For a discussion of risk factors that may affect the development and approval of products, see “—The Results of Our Research and Development Are Unpredictable,” “—We Depend on Skilled Personnel and Key Relationships,” “—Protecting Our Proprietary Rights Is
Difficult and Costly,” and “—Our Products Are Subject to Governmental Regulations and Approvals” on pages 41–44.
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In the next three to five years, we could

experience the greatest period of new

product introductions in our history.

/s/ Arthur D. Levinson
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#In Memory of Robert A. Swanson, Genentech Co-founder.

1947–1999

On December 6, 1999, the world lost a true visionary in Bob Swanson, co-founder of Genentech and the person responsible for

starting the biotechnology industry.  Smart, tenacious and always fun, Bob realized his dream of making lifesaving therapies from

recombinant DNA technology — a dream that has benefited millions of patients around the world.  He will indeed be missed.
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Success delivered in resultsSuccess delivered in results

Nathan Zolezzi.  Snorkler, 100% Kid, Anti-IgE Patient.
Allergic asthma doesn’t stop 9-year-old Nathan from
playing hard — whether he’s in the water, on the soccer
field or just blowing bubbles in his own backyard.
Nathan always aims high.  Nathan first received the
anti-IgE antibody as part of a Phase III clinical trial
for patients with allergic asthma.  Completed in 1999,
the trial produced positive results.

Genentech and partners Novartis Pharma AG and
Tanox, Inc. are currently preparing a Biologics License
Application for anti-IgE in the United States and
registration in Europe for submission by mid-2000.
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As we advance from one millennium to the next, Genentech has

the resources, strategy and people in place with the potential to

generate future growth.  While our accomplishments of the past two

decades have been impressive, a great deal of work — and tremendous

opportunity — still lie ahead of us.

Key to providing strong financial returns is a solid, yet flexible, long-

range plan — one that sets the course but allows us to recognize and

take advantage of unplanned opportunities and move in promising new

directions.  Genentech’s financial growth to date has been built on the

foundation we’ve created with our Long-Range Plan and five-point 

strategy, which have enabled us to achieve an optimum balance among

core areas of potential growth, including marketed products, research

and development and strategic alliances.  Our experience has proven that

setting aggressive goals in these core areas is critical to solid top- and

bottom-line growth. 

Product sales drive financial growth, and in 1999, Genentech showed

a 45% increase in sales and a 33% increase in earnings over 1998.  The

company remains a strong and trusted presence in the cardiovascular

and growth hormone markets and is rapidly gaining respect for its 

innovative oncology products. 

Genentech is in business for life — and for results.  Ultimately, our

ability to bring lifesaving therapies to patients who need them depends

on continued financial success.  The elements necessary to drive future

growth are well in place — and we remain committed to staying the

course.  At the same time, we will continue to monitor and measure

our future success each step of the way and to maintain the highest

standards of integrity with regard to patients, scientific research,

partnerships, customers and our employees. 

A visionary long-range plan sets the course
for sound, consistent growth.

5. Provide Strong Financial Returns
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Success measured in livesSuccess measured in lives



1.  Maximize  Revenue Growth

Frances Jemmott.  Gardener, Community Activist, Rituxan Patient.    
After completing Rituxan treatment for non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, Frances shows virtually
no evidence of the disease.  Her physician describes her response as “powerful.”
Frances’ garden is flourishing, she remains active in numerous community projects, and
she looks forward to time with her grandchildren.  

Developed and marketed in the United States jointly by Genentech and IDEC Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, Rituxan became the first monoclonal antibody licensed for the treatment of 
cancer in the United States in late 1997.  Since its introduction, Rituxan has been used to
treat approximately 38,000 patients — and this number continues to rise.
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Genentech is an established industry leader in the development, manufacture and marketing of biotechnology products for serious or

life-threatening medical conditions.  Our current product list includes eight protein-based pharmaceuticals with 10 approved indications.

Marketed products and approved indications

Activase® Tissue-plasminogen activator

(Alteplase, recombinant)

• Acute myocardial infarction
• Acute ischemic stroke
• Acute massive pulmonary embolism

Pulmozyme® Inhalation solution

(dornase alfa, recombinant)

• Management of cystic fibrosis (including patients under age 5)

Herceptin® Anti-HER2 antibody

(Trastuzumab) 

• Metastatic breast cancer in which HER2 is overexpressed

Rituxan® Anti-CD20 antibody

(Rituximab) 

• Relapsed or refractory low-grade or follicular, 
CD20 positive, B-cell non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma

Nutropin AQ® Liquid formulation growth hormone

[somatropin (rDNA origin) injection]

• GHD in children

• GHD in adults

• Growth failure associated with chronic renal insufficiency
(CRI) prior to kidney transplantation

• Short stature associated with Turner syndrome

Nutropin Depot™ Growth hormone

[somatropin (rDNA origin) for injectable suspension]*

• Growth hormone deficiency (GHD) in children

*New approval. Genentech expects to launch this product by mid-2000.

Nutropin® Growth hormone

[somatropin (rDNA origin) for injection]

• GHD in children

• GHD in adults

• Growth failure associated with CRI prior to kidney transplantation

• Short stature associated with Turner syndrome

Protropin® Growth hormone

(somatrem for injection)

• GHD in children
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Marc Major.  Fence-Climber, 3-Year-Old, Pulmozyme Patient. 

Diagnosed with cystic fibrosis at 6 weeks old, Marc receives

daily therapy with Pulmozyme to aid pulmonary function and

lower his risk of respiratory infections requiring parenteral

antibiotics.  Full of spunk, Marc knows how to have a good

time in the Colorado snow. 
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Carole Abravaya.  Dog-Trainer, Mom, Herceptin Patient. 
Since she was diagnosed with breast cancer in 1992,
Carole has undergone a number of different cancer therapies.
In 1998, after the cancer metastasized to her liver, Carole
began treatment with Herceptin — which she continues today.
She refers to Herceptin as her “silver bullet,” claiming it has
enabled her to get back to her life, hike the Northern
California hills, and watch her 8-year-old son grow. 

Approved for marketing in 1998, Herceptin was the first 
monoclonal antibody to be used in the treatment of certain
types of metastatic breast cancer. 
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Genentech has the distinction of offering biotechnology products

that have become market leaders in each of our therapeutic areas.

Excellent science, strategic marketing and sales efforts, clinically focused

resources for healthcare practitioners and unique patient services have

been integral to this success.  As the environment becomes increasingly

competitive and healthcare economics more complex, maintaining

market leadership and maximizing revenue growth from new and 

existing products will require a stronger, even more comprehensive 

commercialization strategy.  Genentech is well positioned for this task

and has built a foundation for growth into the next century.

Our approach to broadening our commercialization strategy is four-

pronged: First, continue to grow our current products by more effectively

capturing and creating new opportunities, such as those provided by

additional claims and by increasing our customer base.  Second, maxi-

mize new product launches and reduce time to peak market share. 

Third, continue to expand our product offerings and increase the depth

of each of our therapeutic areas.  Fourth, further align discovery and

development with evolving market needs. 

Meeting a Crucial Need. Genentech believes that all patients should have access to needed medications regardless of their ability to pay.  Since

initiating a number of programs to assist uninsured or underinsured patients in the United States, we have provided more than $275 million worth of

pharmaceuticals — free of charge — to these patients.

Strong commercialization efforts are critical
to successful revenue growth.

• Genentech Endowment for Cystic Fibrosis (CF) was created especially

to help financially needy CF patients with the cost of Pulmozyme therapy.

• Genentech Financial Assistance Program provides support for

uninsured and underinsured patients treated with Activase who meet 

program criteria.

• Genentech’s Uninsured Patients Program (UPP) provides medications

to uninsured U.S. patients who meet the program’s eligibility criteria.

• Genentech’s SPOCSM

, or Single Point of Contact, is an important 

service available to growth hormone and cancer patients and their

physicians that provides customer-focused assistance to help patients

and physicians identify resources for reimbursement, including

Genentech’s UPP.


	business-events
	commitment
	financial-highlights
	financial-section
	growth
	innovation
	letter
	management
	results
	success

